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The Company is party to legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of its business, including various pending
litigation matters. The Company is also subject to audit by federal, state and local authorities, by various customers,
including government agencies, relating to sales under certain contracts and by vendors. In addition, from time to
time, customers of the Company file voluntary petitions for reorganization or liquidation under the U.S. bankruptcy
laws. In such cases, certain pre-petition payments received by the Company could be considered preference items and
subject to return to the bankruptcy administrator.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company does not believe that there is a reasonable possibility that any material loss
exceeding the amounts already recognized for these proceedings and matters, if any, has been incurred. However, the
ultimate resolutions of these proceedings and matters are inherently unpredictable. As such, the Company's financial
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected in any particular period by the unfavorable resolution
of one or more of these proceedings or matters.
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17.Related Party Transactions

The Company entered into a management services agreement with the Equity Sponsors pursuant to which they have
agreed to provide it with management and consulting services and financial and other advisory services. Pursuant to
such agreement, the Equity Sponsors receive an annual management fee of $5.0 million and reimbursement of
out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the provision of such services. The management services
agreement includes customary indemnification and provisions in favor of the Equity Sponsors.

18.Segment Information

Segment information is presented in accordance with a “management approach,” which designates the internal reporting
used by the chief operating decision-maker for making decisions and assessing performance as the source of the
Company's reportable segments. The Company's segments are organized in a manner consistent with which separate
financial information is available and evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision-maker in deciding how to
allocate resources and in assessing performance.

The Company has two reportable segments: Corporate, which is comprised primarily of business customers, and
Public, which is comprised of government entities and education and healthcare institutions. The Company also has
two other operating segments, CDW Advanced Services and Canada, which do not meet the reportable segment
quantitative thresholds and, accordingly, are combined together as “Other.”

The Company has centralized logistics and headquarters functions that provide services to the segments. The logistics
function includes purchasing, distribution and fulfillment services to support both the Corporate and Public segments.
As a result, costs and intercompany charges associated with the logistics function are fully allocated to both of these
segments based on a percent of sales. The centralized headquarters function provides services in areas such as
accounting, information technology, marketing, legal and coworker services. Headquarters' function costs that are not
allocated to the segments are included under the heading of “Headquarters” in the tables below. Depreciation expense is
included in Headquarters as it is not allocated among segments or used in measuring segment performance.

The Company allocates resources to and evaluates performance of its segments based on net sales, income (loss) from
operations and Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP measure as defined in the Company's credit agreements. However,
the Company has concluded that income (loss) from operations is the more useful measure in terms of discussion of
operating results as it is a GAAP measure.

Segment information for total assets and capital expenditures is not presented as such information is not used in
measuring segment performance or allocating resources between segments.
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Selected Segment Financial Information
The following table presents information about the Company’s segments for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010
and 2009:

(in millions) Corporate Public Other Headquarters Total

2011:

Net sales $5,334.4 $3,757.2 $510.8 $— $9,602.4
Income (loss) from operations 331.6 233.3 17.5 (111.7 ) 470.7
Depreciation and amortization expense (97.4 ) (43.9 ) (8.7 ) (54.9 ) (204.9 )
2010:

Net sales $4,833.6 $3,560.6 $407.0 $— $8,801.2
Income (loss) from operations 256.2 193.0 14.3 (110.8 ) 352.7
Depreciation and amortization expense (97.4 ) (44.2 ) (8.9 ) (58.9 ) (209.4 )
2009:

Net sales $3,818.2 $3,035.5 $308.9 $— $7,162.6
Income (loss) from operations (56.7 ) 150.7 (23.2 ) (102.7 ) (31.9 )
Depreciation and amortization expense (97.5 ) (45.0 ) (8.5 ) (67.2 ) (218.2 )

Major Customers, Geographic Areas, and Product Mix

Net sales to the federal government were $953.6 million, $967.8 million and $902.6 million and accounted for
approximately 10%, 11% and 13% of total net sales in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. During 2011,
approximately 4% of the Company's total net sales were to customers outside the U.S., primarily in Canada. During
2010 and 2009, approximately 3% of the Company’s total net sales were to customers outside of the U.S., primarily in
Canada. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, approximately 2% and 1% of the Company’s long-lived assets were
located outside of the U.S., respectively.

The following table presents net sales by major category for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009.
Categories are based upon internal classifications. Amounts for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 have
been reclassified for certain changes in individual product classifications to conform to the presentation for the year
ended December 31, 2011.

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009
Dollars in Percentage Dollars in Percentage Dollars in Percentage
Millions of Net Millions of Net Millions of Net
Sales Sales Sales
Hardware:
Notebook/Mobile Devices $1,340.0 14.0 % $1,142.5 13.0 % $831.7 11.6 %
NetComm Products 1,246.4 13.0 1,149.9 13.1 874.0 12.2
Data Storage/Drives 925.6 9.6 838.5 9.5 791.3 11.0
Other Hardware 4,061.9 42.3 3,793.0 43.1 3,110.4 43.5
Total Hardware $7,573.9 78.9 % $6,923.9 78.7 % $5,607.4 78.3 %
Software 1,757.1 18.3 1,608.5 18.3 1,293.9 18.1
Services 256.8 2.7 217.0 2.4 194.3 2.7
Other 14.6 0.1 51.8 0.6 67.0 0.9
Total net sales $9,602.4 100.0 % $8,801.2 100.0 % $7,162.6 100.0 %

(1)Includes items such as delivery charges to customers and certain commission revenue.

Explanation of Responses: 4
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19. Supplemental Guarantor Information

As described in Note 7, the Senior Secured Notes, Senior Notes, Senior Subordinated Notes and 2019 Senior Notes

are guaranteed by Parent and each of CDW LLC’s direct and indirect, wholly owned, domestic subsidiaries (the
“Guarantor Subsidiaries”). All guarantees by Parent and Guarantor Subsidiaries are full and unconditional, and joint and
several. CDW LLC’s Canada subsidiary (the “Non-Guarantor Subsidiary”’) does not guarantee the debt obligations.
CDW LLC and CDW Finance Corporation, as co-issuers, are wholly owned by Parent, and each of the Guarantor
Subsidiaries and the Non-Guarantor Subsidiary is wholly owned by CDW LLC.

The following tables set forth condensed consolidating balance sheets as of December 31, 2011 and 2010,

consolidating statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, and condensed
consolidating statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, in accordance with

Rule 3-10 of Regulation S-X. The consolidating financial information includes the accounts of CDW Corporation (the
“Parent Guarantor”), which has no independent assets or operations, the accounts of CDW LLC (the “Subsidiary Issuer”),
the combined accounts of the Guarantor Subsidiaries, the accounts of the Non-Guarantor Subsidiary, and the accounts
of CDW Finance Corporation (the “Co-Issuer”) for the periods indicated. The information was prepared on the same
basis as the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
(in millions) December 31, 2011

Parent  Subsidiary Guarantor

Guarantor Issuer
Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ~ $— $102.1
Accounts receivable, net — —
Merchandise inventory — —

Miscellaneous receivables  — 47.3
Deferred income taxes — 19.5
Prepaid expenses and other — 11.0
Total current assets — 179.9
Property and equipment, net — 80.9
Goodwill — 749.4
Other intangible assets, net — 366.0
Deferred financing costs, net — 68.5
Other assets 6.0 1.5

Investment in and advances

to subsidiaries (33 ) S5

Total assets $(7.3 ) $4,4849
Liabilities and Shareholders’

(Deficit) Equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable-trade $— $17.6
Accounts payable-inventory .
financing

Current maturities of

long-term debt - 201.0
Deferred revenue — —
Accrued expenses — 162.5
Total current liabilities — 381.1
Long-term liabilities:

Debt — 3,865.0
Deferred income taxes — 199.3
Accrued interest — 13.0
Other liabilities — 39.8
Total long-term liabilities — 4,117.1
Total shareholders’ (deficit) (13 ) (133

equity
$(7.3 ) $4,484.9

Explanation of Responses:

$4,414.9

$503.7
278.7

27.8
146.2
956.4

496.9

43
501.2

) 2,957.3
$4,414.9

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries Subsidiary

$ 8.1
57.0
3.7
3.0
0.1
0.2
72.1

$114.6

$22.6

7.3
29.9

1.8

1.5
33

81.4
$114.6

Co-Issue

rCopsohdatmg Consolidated
Adjustments

$(26.1 ) $99.9
— 1,254.9
— 321.7
— 143.6
— 24.6

— 34.7
(26.1 ) 1,879.4
— 154.3
— 2,208.4
— 1,636.0
— 68.5
6.0 ) 3.0
(3,0254 ) —
$(3,057.5 ) $5949.6
$(26.1 ) $517.8
— 278.7
— 201.0
— 27.8

— 316.0
(26.1 ) 1,341.3
— 3,865.0
6.0 ) 692.0
— 13.0

— 45.6
6.0 ) 4,615.6
(3,0254 ) (7.3 )
$(3,057.5 ) 5949.6
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

(in millions)

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Merchandise inventory
Miscellaneous receivables
Deferred income taxes
Prepaid expenses and other
Total current assets

Property and equipment, net

Goodwill

Other intangible assets, net
Deferred financing costs, net

Other assets

Investment in and advances

to subsidiaries
Total assets

Liabilities and Shareholders’
(Deficit) Equity

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable-trade
Accounts payable-inventory

financing

Current maturities of
long-term debt and capital

leases

Fair value of interest rate
swap agreements
Deferred revenue
Accrued expenses

Total current liabilities

Long-term liabilities:
Debt and capital leases
Deferred income taxes
Accrued interest

Other liabilities

Total long-term liabilities

Explanation of Responses:

December 31, 2010

Parent

Subsidiary Guarantor

Guarantor Issuer

6.5
(50.0 )
$(43.5 )

$32.9

90.2
45.6
10.4
179.1

78.6
749.4
380.5
79.7
1.5

3,193.4
$4,662.2

$17.3

132.5

2.8

152.4
305.0

4,157.3
183.5
323
34.1
4,407.2

$4,379.0

$515.0
28.2

0.1

28.6
137.0
708.9

0.1
551.2

4.7
556.0

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries Subsidiary

$10.0
44.0
2.5
3.5
60.0
1.8

31.3
10.3

$ 1034

$122

8.2
204

2.1

1.6
3.7

Co-Issue

rConsolidatin
Adjustments

$(74 )

(7.4 )

6.5 )
(3,1434 )
$(3,157.3 )

$(74 )

(7.4 )

(6.5 )

g Consolidated

$36.6
1,091.5
292.8
192.8
52.8
35.8
1,702.3

158.1
2,209.1
1,791.2
79.7
34

$5,943.8

$537.1
28.2

132.6

2.8

28.6
297.6
1,026.9

4,157.4
730.3
323
40.4
4,960.4



Total shareholders’ (deficit)
equity

Total liabilities and
shareholders’ (deficit) equity
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(435 ) (50.0 ) 3,114.1

$(43.5 ) $4,662.2 $4,379.0

79.3

$ 103.4

$—

(3,1434 ) (435

$(3,157.3 ) $5,943.8

)
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Consolidating Statement of Operations

(in millions) Year Ended December 31, 2011

Parent  Subsidiary Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating .

Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiary Co-Issuer Adjustments Consolidated
Net sales $— $— $9,222.4  $380.0 $— $— $9,602.4
Cost of sales — — 7,684.9 330.1 — — 8,015.0
Gross profit — — 1,537.5 49.9 — — 1,587.4
Selling and administrative 117 853.1 9.2 . . 994.0
expenses
Advertising expense — — 119.0 3.7 — — 122.7
(Loss) mcome from — (1117 ) 565.4 17.0 — — 470.7
operations
Interest (expense) income,
. — (3245 ) 0.2 0.1 — — (324.2 )
Net loss on extinguishments
of long-term debt - (1189 ) — - - - (18.9 )
Management fee — 9.2 — 9.2 ) — — —
Other income (expense), net — 0.4 0.5 0.2 ) — — 0.7
(Loss) income before income - (5455 ) 566.1 77 . . 78,3
taxes
Income tax benefit (expense) — 215.1 (2224 ) (39 ) — — (11.2 )
(Loss) income before equity
in earnings (loss) of — (3304 ) 343.7 3.8 — — 17.1
subsidiaries
Equl‘ty. in earnings (loss) of 171 347 5 L L . (364.6 ) —
subsidiaries
Net income (loss) $17.1 $17.1 $343.7 $ 3.8 $— $364.6 ) $17.1
87
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Consolidating Statement of Operations

(in millions) Year Ended December 31, 2010
Parent  Subsidiary Guarantor = Non-Guarantor CO_ISSllerConsolidating Consolidated
Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiary Adjustments
Net sales $— $— $8,504.7  $296.5 $— $— $8,801.2
Cost of sales — — 7,152.3 258.1 — — 74104
Gross profit — — 1,352.4 38.4 — — 1,390.8
Selling and administrative 110.8 798 3 230 - . 932 1
expenses
Advertising expense — — 102.5 3.5 — — 106.0
(Loss) mcome from — (1108 ) 451.6 11.9 — = 352.7
operations
ir;tterest (expense) income, - (3932 ) 13 . . . (391.9 )
(Loss) gain on
extinguishments of long-term — (7.9 ) 9.9 — — — 2.0
debt
Other income (expense), net — 8.6 (8.2 ) (0.2 ) — — 0.2
(Loss) income before income . (5033 ) 4546 117 - . (37.0 )
taxes
Income tax benefit (expense) — 125.5 (115.7 ) 2.0 ) — — 7.8
(Loss) income before equity
in (loss) earnings of — (377.8 ) 3389 9.7 — — (29.2 )
subsidiaries
Equl‘ty. in (loss) earnings of 292 ) 348.6 . . - (319.4 ) —
subsidiaries
Net (loss) income $(29.2 ) $(29.2 ) $338.9 $9.7 $— $(3194 ) $(292 )
88
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Consolidating Statement of Operations

(in millions) Year Ended December 31, 2009

Parent  Subsidiary Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidatin .

Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiary Co-Issuer (a) AdjustmentsgCOﬂSOhdated
Net sales $— $— $6,951.7 $210.9 $— $7,162.6
Cost of sales — — 5,844.8 184.9 — 6,029.7
Gross profit — — 1,106.9 26.0 — 1,132.9
Selling and administrative 102.8 700.9 174 L 2211
expenses
Advertising expense — — 99.9 2.0 — 101.9
Goodwill impairment — — 241.8 — — 241.8
(Loss) mcome from — (1028 ) 64.3 6.6 — 319 )
operations
ir;tterest (expense) income, . 4322 ) 05 L . 4317 )
Other (expense) income, ©.1 ) 22 0.3 L 24
net
(Loss) mcome before (535.1 ) 67.0 6.9 — 4612 )
income taxes
Income tax benefit 11 1873 (999 ) (07 ) — 87.8
(expense)
Income (loss) before equity
in (loss) earnings of 1.1 (3478 ) (329 ) 6.2 — (373.4 )
subsidiaries
Equity in (loss) earnings of
subsidiaries (3745 ) (26.7 ) — — 401.2 —
Net (loss) income $(3373.4) $@3745 ) $(3B329 ) $6.2 $401.2 $@3734 )

(a)Not applicable for the year ended December 31, 2009. The Co-Issuer was formed on August 6, 2010.
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

(in millions) Year Ended December 31, 2011

Parent  Subsidiary Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating .

Guarantorlssuer Subsidiaries Subsidiary Co-lssuer Adjustments Consolidated
Netcash (usedim) provided g g938 ) §3075  $03 ) $—  $187 ) $2147
by operating activities
Cash flows from investing
activities:
Capital expenditures — (334 ) (10.6 ) (1.7 ) — — (45.7 )
Cash settlements on interest 6.6 ) — - - . 6.6 )
rate swap agreements
Premium payments on interest 3.7 ) — . . . 3.7 )
rate cap agreements
Net cash used in investing
activities “43.7 ) (10.6 ) (1.7 ) — — (56.0 )
Cash flows from financing
activities:
Proceeds from borrowmgg o 12950 L . . 1.295.0
under revolving credit facility
Repayments of borrowings
under revolving credit facility (1.483.2) — - o - (14832 )
Repayments of long-term debt— (132.0 ) — — — — (132.0 )
Proceeds from issuance of 11750 — - . . 1.175.0
long-term debt
Payments to extinguish
o emm el — 1,175.0 ) — — — — (1,175.0 )
Payment of debt financing 263 ) — _ — — (26.3 )
costs
Net chaqge in accoqnts . . . 250.5 . . - 250.5
payable-inventory financing
Advances to/from affiliates — 552.6 (552.7 ) 0.1 — — —
Other financing activities — 0.6 — — — — 0.6
Net cash provided by (used _ 2067 (3022 ) 0.1 — — 954 )
in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate
changes on cash and cash — — — — — — —
equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in . 692 147 (1.9 ) — (18.7 ) 633
cash
Cash and cash equivalents — 329 11 10.0 . (7.4 ) 36.6

beginning of period

Explanation of Responses: 14
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end of period
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$102.1

$15.8

$ 8.1

$—

$(26.1

) $99.9
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

(in millions)

Net cash (used in) provided
by operating activities

Cash flows from investing
activities:

Capital expenditures

Cash settlements on interest
rate swap agreements
Premium payments on
interest rate cap agreements
Other investing activities
Net cash used in investing
activities

Cash flows from financing
activities:
Proceeds from borrowings

under revolving credit facility

Repayments of borrowings

under revolving credit facility

Repayments of long-term
debt

Proceeds from issuance of
long-term debt

Payments to extinguish
long-term debt

Payment of debt financing
costs

Net change in accounts

payable - inventory financing

Advances to/from affiliates
Other financing activities
Net cash provided by (used
in) financing activities

Effect of exchange rate
changes on cash and cash

equivalents

Net (decrease) increase in
cash

Explanation of Responses:

Year Ended December 31, 2010
Parent  Subsidiary Guarantor

Non-Guarantor

Guarantorlssuer Subsidiaries Subsidiary
$— $(245.6 ) $665.2 $44
— 314 ) 99 0.2 )
— (782 ) — —
— (5.9 ) — —
— 0.2 — —
— (1153 ) 99 0.2 )
770.8 — —
(1,074.1 ) — —
165 ) — —
— 500.0 — —
— (500.0 ) (18.6 —
— (143 ) — —
— 32 —
— 640.8 (639.2 (1.6 )
— 0.5 ) (0.1 —
306.2 (654.7 (1.6 )
a — — 0.4
— (547 ) 0.6 3.0
— 87.6 0.5 7.0

Co-Issuer Clonsollidhiitiy Consolidated

$—

Adjustments

$(0.3 ) $423.7

— 415 )
— (78.2 )
— (5.9 )
— 0.2
— (1254 )
_ 770.8
— (1,074.1 )
— (16.5 )
— 500.0
— (5186 )
_ (14.3 )
— 3.2
— 0.6 )
— (350.1 )
— 0.4
0.3 ) (51.4 )
(7.1 ) 88.0
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91

$1.1

$ 10.0

$—

$(7.4

) $36.6
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

(in millions) Year Ended December 31, 2009
Parent  Subsidiary Guarantor Non-Guaranto Consolidating .
GuarantorIssuer Subsidiaries Subsidiary Co-Issuer @ Adjustments Consolidated
Net cash provided by (used ¢ | ¢(5131 ) §30009  §14 $@47 ) $107.6
1n) operating activities
Cash flows from investing
activities:
Capital expenditures — (10.8 ) (4.8 ) — — (15.6 )
Cash settlements on interest 122 ) — L - (722 )
rate swap agreements
Purch.a.ses of marketable 200 ) — _ — (20.0 )
securities
Redem.ptlon of marketable 200 . . . 200
securities
Proceeds from sale of assets — — 5.2 — — 5.2
Net cash (used in) provided
by investing activities - (830 ) 04 - - (826 )
Cash flows from financing
activities:
Repayments of long-term
debt (110 ) — — — (11.0 )
Payment of debt financing 113 ) — . . (113 )
costs
Net change in accounts
payable - inventory — — (9.1 ) — — (9.1 )
financing
Advances to/from affiliates (1.1 ) 315.0 3148 ) 0.9 — —
Other financing activities — (0.3 ) (0.2 ) — — (0.5 )
Net cash (used in) provided
oy s G ires 1.1 ) 2924 (3241 ) 09 — (31.9 )
Effect of exchange rate
changes on cash and cash — — — 0.5 — 0.5
equivalents
Net (decrease) increase in 3.7 ) (0.8 ) 2.8 a7 ) (64 )
cash
Cash and cash equivalents =__ 91.3 13 4.2 2.4 ) 94.4
beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents g $87.6 $0.5 $7.0 $(7.1 ) $88.0

end of period
(a) Not applicable for the year ended December 31, 2009. The Co-Issuer was formed on August 6, 2010.
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20.Selected Quarterly Financial Results (unaudited)

(in millions)

Net Sales Detail:
Corporate:
Medium/Large
Small Business
Total Corporate
Public:
Government
Education
Healthcare

Total Public
Other

Net sales

Gross profit
Income from operations
Net income (loss)

(in millions)

Net Sales Detail:
Corporate:
Medium/Large
Small Business
Total Corporate
Public:
Government
Education
Healthcare

Total Public
Other

Net sales

Gross profit
Income from operations
Net income (loss)

2011
First Quarter

$1,022.9
256.4
1,279.3

231.9
214.6
2774
723.9
126.4
$2,129.6
$351.5
$91.7
$4.2

2010
First Quarter

$893.0
223.7
1,116.7

280.5
227.8
212.0
720.3
97.1
$1,934.1
$305.9
$71.3
$2.2

Second Quarter

$1,075.0
263.4
1,338.4

296.1
343.3
311.8
951.2
122.5
$2,412.1
$401.8
$128.2
$(34.8

Second Quarter

$964.6
228.8
1,193.4

343.1
338.1
249.7
930.9
99.0
$2,223.3
$359.9
$95.6
$(7.0

Edgar Filing: GOODSON R EUGENE - Form 4

Third Quarter

$1,070.6
259.7
1,330.3

388.1
415.7
319.3
1,123.1
128.0
$2,581.4
$420.8
$139.7

) $37.1

Third Quarter

$973.7
251.0
1,224.7

397.1
392.5
262.1
1,051.7
98.0
$2,374.4
$368.4
$104.6

) $(0.3

Fourth Quarter

$1,118.6
267.8
1,386.4

4274
224.1
307.5
959.0
133.9
$2,479.3
$413.3
$111.1
$19.0

Fourth Quarter

$1,036.0
262.8
1,298.8

348.0
242.1
267.5
857.6
112.9
$2,269.3
$356.8
$81.2

) $(24.2 )

As discussed in Note 5, the Company has historically entered into agreements with certain financial intermediaries to
facilitate the purchase of inventory from various suppliers under certain terms and conditions. The Company has
determined that its previous classification of its obligations for inventory financing agreements was in error and that
amounts owed under these agreements should be classified separately on the consolidated balance sheets and not
included within accounts payable to trade creditors. Accordingly, the Company has changed the classification to
reflect $105.7 million and $82.8 million at June 30, 2011 and March 31, 2011, respectively, and $58.8 million, $123.5
million and $103.1 million at September 30, 2010, June 30, 2010 and March 31, 2010, respectively, as accounts
payable-inventory financing with no impact on total current liabilities. Beginning September 30, 2011, the inventory
financing agreements were classified separately within accounts payable-inventory financing on the consolidated

balance sheets.
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A summary of the revisions to the consolidated statements of cash flows for the respective interim periods is as

follows:

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010

As Previously ..
Revision

(in millions) As Revised
Reported

Net cash provided by operating activities $397.6 $338 ) $363.8

Net cash used in financing activities $(3358 ) $33.8 $302.0 )

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents $21.0 ) $— $21.0 )

Six Months Ended June 30, 2011
As Previously ..
Revision

(in millions) As Revised
Reported

Net cash provided by operating activities $207.4 $(776 ) $129.8

Net cash used in financing activities $(173.3 ) $77.6 $0957 )

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $8.0 $— $8.0

Six Months Ended June 30, 2010
As Previously ..
Revision

(in millions) As Revised
Reported

Net cash provided by operating activities $260.3 $0985 ) $161.8

Net cash used in financing activities $(266.2 ) $98.5 $(167.7 )

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents $619 ) $— $619 )
Three Months Ended March 31, 2011

(in millions) AOLERRIY Revision As Revised
Reported

Net cash provided by operating activities $196.3 $(547 ) $141.6

Net cash used in financing activities $(1435 ) $54.7 $(88.8 )

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $37.1 $— $37.1

Three Months Ended March 31, 2010
As Previously

(in millions) Revision As Revised
Reported

Net cash provided by operating activities $313.3 $(78.1 ) $235.2

Net cash used in financing activities $309.5 ) $78.1 $2314 )

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents $203 ) $— $(20.3 )

21.Subsequent Events

On February 2, 2012 the Company announced that it had commenced a tender offer (the “2012 Senior Notes Tender
Offer”) to purchase any and all of the outstanding $129.0 million aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes, which
expired on March 2, 2012. Concurrently, the Company announced that it had priced an offering of $130.0 million
aggregate principal amount of additional 2019 Senior Notes at an issue price of 104.375% of par, which closed on
February 17, 2012.

On February 17, 2012, the Company announced that it had accepted for purchase $120.6 million principal amount of
the outstanding Senior Notes, representing approximately 93.5% of the outstanding Senior Notes, that were tendered
by February 16, 2012. On March 5, 2012, the Company accepted for purchase an additional $0.1 million principal
amount of the outstanding Senior Notes that were tendered prior to the expiration of the tender offer on March 2,
2012. The Company has called for redemption on March 19, 2012 the remaining $8.3 million principal amount of
Senior Notes that were not tendered.
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The proceeds from the issuance of 2019 Senior Notes, together with cash on hand and borrowings under the
Revolving Loan, were used to fund the purchase of the Senior Notes tendered pursuant to the 2012 Senior Notes
Tender Offer, including the payment of tender and consent consideration, accrued and unpaid interest and transaction
fees and expenses, and the payment of the redemption price and accrued and unpaid interest of the Senior Notes called
for redemption.

In connection with the purchase of the Senior Notes under the 2012 Senior Notes Tender Offer and the call for
redemption, the Company expects to record a loss on extinguishment of long-term debt of approximately $9 million in
the consolidated statement of operations in the first quarter of 2012. The loss represents tender offer consideration,
redemption price payments and the write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs related to the Senior Notes.

On February 2, 2012, the Company made an optional prepayment of $120.0 million aggregate principal amount of the
Term Loan. On February 14, 2012, the Company made an additional optional prepayment of $60.0 million. The
prepayments were allocated on a pro rata basis between the extended and non-extended loans. The optional
prepayments will reduce the amount of the required mandatory prepayment due in 2012 under the excess cash flow
provision of the Term Loan on a dollar for dollar basis with respect to the year ended December 31, 2011.
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SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
(in millions)

Balance at Charged to Balance at
Beginning Costs and Deductions End of
of Period Expenses Period
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
Year Ended December 31, 2011 $5.0 $3.6 $(3.2 ) $54
Year Ended December 31, 2010 6.3 1.2 2.5 ) 5.0
Year Ended December 31, 2009 6.4 5.1 5.2 ) 6.3
Inventory valuation reserve:
Year Ended December 31, 2011 $4.1 $22.8 $(22.0 ) $49
Year Ended December 31, 2010 3.5 28.9 (28.3 ) 4.1
Year Ended December 31, 2009 3.5 21.9 (21.9 ) 3.5
Reserve for sales returns:
Year Ended December 31, 2011 $3.2 $32.0 $30.7 ) $45
Year Ended December 31, 2010 2.9 29.4 (29.1 ) 3.2
Year Ended December 31, 2009 2.9 26.8 (26.8 ) 2.9
96
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined
in Rulel13a-15(e) or Rule 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act”)) as
of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on such evaluation, the Company’s management, including the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has concluded that, as of the end of such period, the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective in recording, processing, summarizing, and reporting, on
a timely basis, information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the
Exchange Act, and that information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely discussions regarding
required disclosure.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as
defined in Rule 3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control
over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements and can provide only reasonable assurance with
respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2011. Management based this assessment on the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO) in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework.”

Based on its assessment, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2011, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting is effective.

Ernst and Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the consolidated financial
statements of the Company and the Company's internal control over financial reporting and has included their reports
herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended
December 31, 2011 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

Board of Directors and Shareholders

CDW Corporation

We have audited CDW Corporation and subsidiaries' internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). CDW Corporation and subsidiaries' management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Annual Report
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company's internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company's assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, CDW Corporation and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on the COSO criteria.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheet of CDW Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011, and the related
consolidated statement of operations, shareholders' (deficit) equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31,
2011 and our report dated March 9, 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Chicago, Illinois
March 9, 2012
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Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Managers, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The directors of Parent, the Managers of CDW Holdings LLC ("CDW Holdings") and CDW LLC and our Executive
Officers are set forth below:

Name Age Position

Thomas E. Richards 57 President and Chief Executive Officer, Manager of CDW Ho, and Director of Parent
John A. Edwardson 62 Chairman of the Boards of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC

Dennis G. Berger 47 Senior Vice President and Chief Coworker Services Officer

Neal J. Campbell 50 Senior Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer

Christina M. Corley 44 Senior Vice President - Corporate Sales

Douglas E. Eckrote =~ 47 Senior Vice President - Strategic Solutions and Services

Christine A. Leahy 47 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

Jonathan J. Stevens 42 Senior Vice President - Operations and Chief Information Officer

Christina V. Rother 48 Senior Vice President - Public and Advanced Technology Sales

Matthew A. Troka 41 Senior Vice President - Product and Partner Management
Ann E. Ziegler 53 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Steven W. Alesio 57 Manager of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC

Barry K. Allen 63 Manager of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC

Benjamin D. Chereskin53 Manager of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC

Glenn M. Creamer 50 Manager of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC

Michael J. Dominguez 42 Manager of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC and Director of Parent

Paul J. Finnegan 59 Manager of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC and Director of Parent

Robin P. Selati 46 Manager of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC

Donna F. Zarcone 54 Manager of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC

Thomas E. Richards serves as our President and Chief Executive Officer, as a manager of CDW Holdings and CDW
LLC and as a director of Parent. Mr. Richards has served as our Chief Executive Officer since October 2011. From
September 2009 to October 2011, Mr. Richards served as our President and Chief Operating Officer. Prior to joining
CDW, Mr. Richards held leadership positions with Qwest Communications, a telecommunications carrier. From 2008
to 2009, he served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, where he was responsible for the
day-to-day operation and performance of Qwest Communications, and before assuming that role, was the Executive
Vice President of the Business Markets Group from 2005 to 2008. Mr. Richards also has served as Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of Clear Communications Corporation and as Executive Vice President of Ameritech
Corporation. He currently serves as a board member of Junior Achievement of Chicago, Rush University Medical
Center and the University of Pittsburgh. Mr. Richards is a graduate of the University of Pittsburgh where he earned a
bachelor's degree and a graduate of Massachusetts Institute of Technology where he earned a Master of Science in
Management as a Sloan Fellow. As a result of these and other professional experiences, Mr. Richards possesses
particular knowledge and experience in technology industries, strategic planning and leadership of complex
organizations that strengthen the board's collective qualifications, skills and experience.

John A. Edwardson serves as our Chairman and as a manager of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC. Mr. Edwardson has
served as our Chairman since 2001. From 2001 until October 2011, Mr. Edwardson served as our Chief Executive
Officer. Prior to joining CDW in 2001, Mr. Edwardson served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Burns
International Services Corporation from 1999 until 2000. Mr. Edwardson previously served as a Director and
President from 1994 to 1998 and Chief Operating Officer from 1995 to 1998 of UAL Corporation and United
Airlines. He currently serves on the board of directors of FedEx Corporation, and as a board member of Advance
[llinois, Ravinia Festival, the Chicago Symphony Orchestra, The Art Institute of Chicago and Northwestern Memorial
Hospital. Mr. Edwardson is a graduate of Purdue University where he earned a bachelor's degree and a graduate of the
University of Chicago where he earned a Master of Business Administration. As a result of these and other
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Dennis G. Berger serves as our Senior Vice President and Chief Coworker Services Officer. Mr. Berger joined CDW
in September 2005 as Vice President-Coworker Services. In January 2007, he was named Senior Vice President and
Chief Coworker Services Officer. Mr. Berger is responsible for leading CDW's programs in coworker learning and
development, benefits, compensation, performance management, coworker relations and talent acquisition. Prior to
joining CDW, he served as Vice President of Human Resources at PepsiAmericas, a beverage company, from 2002 to
2005. Mr. Berger has also held human resources positions of increasing responsibility at Pepsi Bottling Group, Inc.,
Pepsico, Inc. and GTE Corporation. Mr. Berger serves on the board of directors of Glenwood School for Boys and
Girls, America Chicago SCORES and Anti-Defamation League of Chicago. Mr. Berger is a graduate of Northeastern
University where he earned a bachelor's degree and a graduate of Washington University in St. Louis where he earned
a Master of Business Administration.

Neal J. Campbell serves as our Senior Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer. Mr. Campbell joined CDW in
January 2011, and is responsible for the strategy and development of CDW's advertising, public relations, channel
marketing, marketing intelligence and research, merchandising, microsites, creative services and direct marketing
content, along with relationship marketing, corporate communications and e-commerce initiatives including content
development, online marketing and e-procurement. Prior to joining CDW, Mr. Campbell served as Chief Executive
Officer of TrafficCast, a provider of real-time and predictive traffic information to Google, Yahoo and others from
2008 to 2011. From 2006 to 2008, he served as Executive Vice President and General Manager - Strategic Marketing
and Next Generation Products for ISCO International, a manufacturer of wireless telecommunications components.
Mr. Campbell also spent 17 years with Motorola, most recently as Vice President and General Manager, GSM
Portfolio Marketing and Planning for the company's mobile device business. He currently serves as a board member
of TrafficCast and Junior Achievement of Chicago, and is on the Executive Advisory Council of Bradley University.
Mr. Campbell is a graduate of Bradley University where he earned a bachelor's degree and a graduate of Northwestern
University's Kellogg School of Management where he earned a Master of Business Administration.

Christina M. Corley serves as our Senior Vice President of Corporate Sales and is responsible for managing all aspects
of our corporate sales force, including sales force strategy, structure, goals, operations, revenue generation and
training and development. Prior to joining CDW in September 2011, Ms. Corley served as President and Chief
Operating Officer of Zones, Inc., a provider of IT products and solutions, from 2006 to 2011. She served as Executive
Vice President of Purchasing and Operations for Zones, Inc. from April 2005 to October 2006. She served as
President of Corporate PC Source (“CPCS”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Zones, Inc., from March 2003 to April 2005.
Prior to its acquisition by Zones, Inc., Ms. Corley served as Chief Executive Officer of CPCS from 1999 to 2003.

Ms. Corley began her career in sales and marketing, holding various positions at IBM, Dataflex and VisionTek.

Ms. Corley is a graduate of the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign where she earned a bachelor's degree and
a graduate of Northwestern University's Kellogg School of Management where she earned a Master of Business
Administration in management and strategy.

Douglas E. Eckrote serves as our Senior Vice President of Strategic Solutions and Services and is responsible for our
technology specialist teams focusing on servers and storage, unified communications, security, wireless, power and
cooling, networking, software licensing and mobility solutions. He also holds responsibility for CDW Canada, Inc.
Mr. Eckrote joined CDW in 1989 as an account manager. Mr. Eckrote was appointed Director of Operations in 1996,
Vice President of Operations in 1999 and Senior Vice President of Purchasing in April 2001. In October 2001, he was
named Senior Vice President of Purchasing and Operations. He was named Senior Vice President of Operations,
Services and Canada in 2006 and assumed his current role in 2009. Prior to joining CDW, Eckrote worked in outside
sales for Arrow Electronics and Cintas Uniform Company. From 2003 to 2009, Mr. Eckrote served on the board of
directors of the Make-A-Wish Foundation of Illinois, completing the last two years as board chair, and currently
serves on the Make-A-Wish Foundation of America National Chapter Performance Committee. Mr. Eckrote also
served on the board of directors of the Center for Enriched Living from 2002-2011, serving as Vice President from
2004-2005, President from 2006-2008, board emeritus from 2009-2011 and currently serves as a trustee. Mr. Eckrote
is a graduate of Purdue University where he earned a bachelor's degree and a graduate of Northwestern University's
Kellogg School of Management where he earned an Executive Master of Business Administration.
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Christine A. Leahy serves as our Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary and is responsible
for our legal, corporate governance, enterprise risk management and compliance functions. Ms. Leahy joined CDW in
January 2002 as Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary. In January of 2007, she was named Senior
Vice President. Before joining CDW, Ms. Leahy served as a corporate partner in the Chicago office of Sidley Austin
LLP where she specialized in corporate governance, securities law, mergers and acquisitions and strategic counseling.
Ms. Leahy serves on the board of trustees of Children's Home and Aid. Ms. Leahy is a graduate of Brown University
where she earned a bachelor's degree and a graduate of Boston College Law School where she earned her Juris
Doctor. She also completed the CEO Perspective and Women's Director Development Programs at Northwestern
University's Kellogg School of Management.

Christina V. Rother serves as our Senior Vice President of Public and Advanced Technology Sales and is responsible
for managing all aspects of our public sector and advanced technology sales forces, including sales force strategy,
structure, goals, operations, revenue generation and training and development. Ms. Rother joined CDW in 1991 as an
account manager.
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In 2002, she was appointed Vice President for Education and State and Local Sales. In 2005, she was chosen to lead
our newly formed healthcare sales team. Beginning in 2006, Ms. Rother has held various positions ranging from
Group Vice President of CDW Government LL.C, President of CDW Government LL.C and Senior Vice President of
Sales. In September 2011, Ms. Rother assumed her current role as Senior Vice President of Public and Advanced
Technology Sales. Prior to joining CDW, Ms. Rother held a number of sales positions with technology companies
including Laser Computers and Price Electronics. Ms. Rother serves on the board of directors of the Make-A-Wish
Foundation of Illinois, where she also is a member of the Executive Committee and serves as corporate document
officer. Ms. Rother is a graduate of the University of Illinois at Chicago where she earned a bachelor's degree.
Jonathan J. Stevens serves as our Senior Vice President of Operations and Chief Information Officer. Mr. Stevens
joined CDW in June 2001 as Vice President-Information Technology, was named Chief Information Officer in
January 2002 and Vice President-International and Chief Information Officer from 2005 until December 2006. In
January 2007, he was named Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer and assumed his current role in
November 2009. Mr. Stevens is responsible for the strategic direction of our information technology. Additionally, he
holds responsibility for our distribution centers, transportation, facilities, customer relations, operational excellence
and the business technology center. Prior to joining CDW, Mr. Stevens served as regional technology director for
Avanade, an international technology integration company formed through a joint venture between Microsoft and
Accenture from 2000 to 2001. Prior to that, Mr. Stevens was a principal with Microsoft Consulting Services and led
an information technology group for a corporate division of AT&T/NCR. He currently serves on the board of
directors of SingleWire Software, LLC and Northeast Illinois Council: Boy Scouts of America. Mr. Stevens is a
graduate of the University of Dayton where he earned a bachelor's degree.

Matthew A. Troka serves as our Senior Vice President of Product and Partner Management. Mr. Troka is responsible
for managing our relationships with all of our vendor partners. In addition, he directs the day-to-day operations of our
purchasing department. Mr. Troka joined CDW in 1992 as an account manager and became a sales manager in 1995.
From 1998 to 2001, he served as Corporate Sales Director. From 2001 to 2004, Mr. Troka was Senior Director of
Purchasing. From 2004 to 2006, Mr. Troka served as Vice President of Purchasing. From 2006 to 2011, Mr. Troka
was Vice President of Product and Partner Management. On March 3, 2011, Mr. Troka was elected Senior Vice
President of Product and Partner Management. He also is Chairman of the CDW Supplier Diversity Advisory Council.
Mr. Troka serves as a member of the board of directors of Rainbows for All Children. Mr. Troka is a graduate of the
University of Illinois where he earned a bachelor's degree.

Ann E. Ziegler joined CDW in April 2008 as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Prior to joining
CDW, Ms. Ziegler spent 15 years at Sara Lee Corporation (“Sara Lee”), a global consumer goods company, in a number
of executive roles including finance, mergers and acquisitions, strategy and general management positions in both
U.S. and international businesses. Most recently, from 2005 until April 2008, Ms. Ziegler served as Chief Financial
Officer and Senior Vice President of Administration for Sara Lee Food and Beverage. Prior to joining Sara Lee,

Ms. Ziegler was a corporate attorney at Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom. Ms. Ziegler serves on the board of
directors of Hanesbrands, Inc. and The Chicago Shakespeare Theatre. During the previous five years, Ms. Ziegler also
served on the board of directors of Unitrin, Inc. Ms. Ziegler is a graduate of The College of William and Mary where
she earned a bachelor's degree and a graduate of the University of Chicago Law School where she earned her Juris
Doctor.

Steven W. Alesio serves as a manager of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC. Mr. Alesio serves as a Senior Advisor at
Providence Equity. Prior to joining Providence Equity in December 2010, Mr. Alesio was most recently Chairman of
the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (“D&B”), a provider of credit information on
businesses and corporations. After joining D&B in January 2001 as Senior Vice President, Mr. Alesio served in
various senior leadership positions. In May 2002, Mr. Alesio was named President and Chief Operating Officer, and
was elected to the board of directors. In January 2005, Mr. Alesio was chosen to be the Chief Executive Officer, and
in May of 2005, he became Chairman of the Board, a position he held until his departure in June 2010. Prior to joining
D&B, Mr. Alesio spent 19 years with the American Express Company, where he served in marketing and then general
management roles. Mr. Alesio serves on the board of directors of Altegrity, Ascend Learning, Blackboard, Study
Group and Genworth Financial, Inc. Mr. Alesio is the founding sponsor and Senior Advisor for the non-profit All
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Stars Project of New Jersey, which provides outside-of-school leadership development and performance-based
education programming to thousands of inner-city young people in Newark and its surrounding communities.

Mr. Alesio is a graduate of St. Francis College where he earned a bachelor's degree and a graduate of University of
Pennsylvania's Wharton School where he earned a Master of Business Administration. As a result of these and other
professional experiences, Mr. Alesio possesses particular knowledge and experience in strategic planning and
leadership of complex organizations and board practices of other major corporations that strengthen the board's
collective qualifications, skills and experience.

Barry K. Allen serves as a manager of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC. Mr. Allen serves as Senior Advisor at
Providence Equity. Prior to joining Providence Equity in 2007, Mr. Allen was Executive Vice President of Operations
at Qwest Communications International, a telecommunications carrier. Before his retirement from Qwest in June
2007, Mr. Allen was responsible for the company's network and information technology operations. Prior to being
named Executive Vice President
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of Operations in March 2004, he served as Qwest's Executive Vice President of Operations and Chief Human
Resources Officer. Before joining Qwest in August 2002, Mr. Allen was President of Allen Enterprises, a private
equity investment and management company he founded in 2000. Previously, he served as President of Chicago-based
Ameritech Corp., where he began his career in 1974 and held a variety of executive appointments including President
and Chief Executive Officer of Wisconsin Bell and President and Chief Executive Officer of Illinois Bell. Before
starting at Ameritech, Mr. Allen served in the U.S. Army where he reached the rank of Captain. Mr. Allen serves on
the board of directors of Harley-Davidson, Inc. (chairman from 2009 - 2012), Bell Canada Enterprises, the Fiduciary
Management family of mutual funds and World Triathlon Corporation. During the past five years, Mr. Allen also
served as a director of Telcordia Technologies, Inc. He also has served as a board member of many civic
organizations, including the Greater Milwaukee Committee, and currently serves as a board member of the Boys and
Girls Club of Milwaukee, Junior Achievement of Wisconsin, Children's Hospital of Wisconsin and United Way in
Milwaukee. Mr. Allen is a graduate of the University of Kentucky where he earned a bachelor's degree and a graduate
of Boston University where he earned a Master of Business Administration, with honors. As a result of these and other
professional experiences, Mr. Allen possesses particular knowledge and experience in technology industries, strategic
planning and leadership of complex organizations, and board practices of other major corporations that strengthen the
board's collective qualifications, skills and experience.

Benjamin D. Chereskin serves as a manager of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC. Mr. Chereskin is President of Profile
Capital Management LLC (“Profile Capital”), an investment management firm. Prior to founding Profile Capital,

Mr. Chereskin was a Managing Director of Madison Dearborn, having co-founded the firm in 1993. Prior to the
founding of Madison Dearborn, Mr. Chereskin was with First Chicago Venture Capital for nine years. Mr. Chereskin
currently serves on the board of directors of BF Bolthouse Holdco LLC, Cinemark, Inc., University of Chicago
Laboratory School and KIPP-Chicago and on the board of trustees of University of Chicago Medical School. During
the previous five years, Mr. Chereskin also served as a director of Carrols Restaurant Group, Inc. and Tuesday
Morning Corporation. Mr. Chereskin is a graduate of Harvard College where he earned a bachelor's degree and a
graduate of the Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration where he earned a Master of Business
Administration. As a result of these and other professional experiences, Mr. Chereskin possesses particular knowledge
and experience in accounting, finance and capital market transactions, strategic planning and leadership of complex
organizations, and board practices of other major corporations that strengthen the board's collective qualifications,
skills and experience.

Glenn M. Creamer serves as a manager of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC. Mr. Creamer is a Senior Managing
Director of Providence Equity. Prior to the founding of Providence Equity in 1989, Mr. Creamer was a Vice President
of Narragansett Capital, which he joined in 1988. Mr. Creamer also has worked in investment banking at Merrill
Lynch and JPMorgan. Mr. Creamer serves as a director of various non-profit boards, including Catholic Relief
Services, Mustard Seed Communities USA and the Rhode Island School of Design Museum. During the previous five
years, Mr. Creamer also served as a director of Medical Media Holdings and Telcordia Technologies, Inc.

Mr. Creamer is a graduate of Brown University where he earned a bachelor's degree and a graduate of Harvard
Business School where he earned a Master of Business Administration. As a result of these and other professional
experiences, Mr. Creamer possesses particular knowledge and experience in accounting, finance and capital market
transactions, strategic planning and leadership of complex organizations, and board practices of other major
corporations that strengthen the board's collective qualifications, skills and experience.

Michael J. Dominguez serves as a manager of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC and a director of Parent.

Mr. Dominguez is a Managing Director of Providence Equity. Prior to joining Providence Equity in 1998,

Mr. Dominguez worked for Salomon Smith Barney in corporate finance. Previously, Mr. Dominguez held positions
with Morgan Stanley and was a senior consultant at Andersen Consulting. Currently, Mr. Dominguez also serves on
the board of directors of AutoTrader.com, GLM Holdings and ZeniMax Media Inc. During the past five years,

Mr. Dominguez also served as a director of Bresnan Communications, Freedom Communications and
Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer Inc. Mr. Dominguez is a graduate of Bucknell University where he earned a bachelor's degree
and a graduate of Harvard Business School where he earned a Master of Business Administration. As a result of these
and other professional experiences, Mr. Dominguez possesses particular knowledge and experience in accounting,
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finance and capital market transactions, strategic planning and leadership of complex organizations, and board
practices of other major corporations that strengthen the board's collective qualifications, skills and experience.

Paul J. Finnegan serves as a manager of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC and a director of Parent. Mr. Finnegan is the
Co-CEO of Madison Dearborn and co-founded the firm in 1992. Prior to co-founding Madison Dearborn,

Mr. Finnegan was with First Chicago Venture Capital for ten years. Previously, he held a variety of marketing
positions in the publishing industry, both in the United States and in Southeast Asia. Mr. Finnegan has more than 29
years of experience in private equity investing with a particular focus on investments in the communications industry.
Mr. Finnegan is a member of the board of overseers of Harvard College and past President of the Harvard Alumni
Association. He also is a member of the Board of Dean's Advisors at the Harvard Business School and of the
Leadership Council of the Harvard School of Public Health. Mr. Finnegan is a member of the board of directors of the
Chicago Council on Global Affairs. He is the Chairman of Teach For America in Chicago, a member of Teach For
America's National Board, and the Chairman of the Community Works Advisory Committee of the
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Evanston Community Foundation. During the previous five years, Mr. Finnegan also has served as a director for
iPlan, LLC, Rural Cellular Corporation, Council Tree Hispanic Broadcasters, LLC and PAETEC Communications,
Inc. Mr. Finnegan is a graduate of Harvard College where he earned a bachelor's degree and a graduate of Harvard
Graduate School of Business Administration where he earned a Master of Business Administration. As a result of
these and other professional experiences, Mr. Finnegan possesses particular knowledge and experience in strategic
planning and leadership of complex organizations and board practices of other major corporations that strengthen the
board's collective qualifications, skills and experience.

Robin P. Selati serves as a manager of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC. Mr. Selati is a Managing Director of Madison
Dearborn and joined the firm in 1993. Before 1993, Mr. Selati was with Alex. Brown & Sons Incorporated. Mr. Selati
currently serves on the board of directors of BF Bolthouse Holdco LLC, Ruth's Hospitality Group, Inc. and The
Yankee Candle Company, Inc. During the previous five years, Mr. Selati also served as a director of Tuesday
Morning Corporation, Carrols Restaurant Group, Inc., Pierre Holding Corp., Family Christian Stores, Inc., NWL
Holdings, Inc. and Cinemark, Inc. Mr. Selati is a graduate of Yale University where he earned a bachelor's degree and
a graduate of the Stanford University Graduate School of Business where he earned a Master of Business
Administration. As a result of these and other professional experiences, Mr. Selati possesses particular knowledge and
experience in accounting, finance and capital market transactions, strategic planning and leadership of complex
organizations, and board practices of other major corporations that strengthen the board's collective qualifications,
skills and experience.

Donna F. Zarcone serves as a manager of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC. Ms. Zarcone is the President and Chief
Executive Officer of the Economic Club of Chicago, a position she has held since February 2012. From January 2007
to February 2012, she served as the President, CEO and founder of D. F. Zarcone & Associates LLC, a strategy
advisory firm. Prior to founding D. F. Zarcone & Associates, Ms. Zarcone was President and Chief Operating Officer
of Harley-Davidson Financial Services, Inc., a provider of wholesale and retail financing, credit card and insurance
services for dealers and customers of Harley-Davidson. After joining Harley-Davidson Financial Services, Inc. in June
1994 as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, Ms. Zarcone was named President and Chief Operating Officer in
August 1998. Prior to joining Harley-Davidson Financial Services, Inc., Ms. Zarcone served as Executive Vice
President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of Chrysler Systems Leasing, Inc. from November 1982 through June
1994 and in various management roles at KPMG/Peat Marwick from May 1979 through November 1982.

Ms. Zarcone serves on the board of directors of Cigna Corporation, The Jones Group Inc. (retiring in May 2012) and
The Duchossois Group. During the previous five years, Ms. Zarcone also served as a director for Wrightwood Capital.
She also serves as a board member of various civic and professional organizations, including the National Association
of Corporate Directors - Chicago Chapter, University of Chicago Booth School of Business Polsky Center for
Entrepreneurship, the Chicago Club (retiring March 2012) and Hyde Park Angels. Ms. Zarcone is a graduate of
Illinois State University where she earned a bachelor's degree and a graduate of University of Chicago Booth School
of Business where she earned a Masters of Business Administration. Ms. Zarcone also is a certified public accountant.
As a result of these and other professional experiences, Ms. Zarcone possesses particular knowledge and experience in
accounting, finance, strategic planning and leadership of complex organizations, and board practices of other major
corporations that strengthen the board's collective qualifications, skills and experience.

Boards of Managers and Directors

The Board of Managers of each of CDW Holdings LL.C and CDW LLC is currently composed of ten managers. The
Board of Directors of Parent is currently composed of three directors.

Audit Committee

Our audit committee currently consists of Messrs. Dominguez and Selati and Ms. Zarcone. Our audit committee has
responsibility for, among other things, the quality of our financial reporting and internal control processes, our
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independent auditor's performance and qualification and the performance of our internal audit function. The Board has
determined that Ms. Zarcone qualifies as an audit committee financial expert under SEC rules. Ms. Zarcone would be
independent for audit committee purposes under SEC rules.

Compensation Committee
Our compensation committee currently consists of Messrs. Alesio, Allen, Chereskin, Creamer, Dominguez and Selati.

Our compensation committee has responsibility for, among other things, review and approval of executive
compensation, review and approval of equity compensation and review of trends in management compensation.
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Corporate Governance Committee

Our corporate governance committee currently consists of Messrs. Dominguez and Selati. Our corporate governance
committee has responsibility for, among other things, review and approval of the size of our Board, review of
corporate governance guidelines, and oversight of programs for our managers.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

None of our executive officers has served as a member of the Board of Directors or compensation committee of
another entity that had one or more of its executive officers serving as a member of any of our Boards of Managers or
Boards of Directors.

Director Compensation
See “Item 11 Executive Compensation-Director Compensation.”
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to our principal executive officer and all members of our finance
department, including the principal financial officer and principal accounting officer. This code of ethics, which
consists of the “Financial Integrity Code of Ethics” section of The CDW Way Code that applies to coworkers generally,
is posted on the our website at www.cdw.com/content/about/our-values.asp. If we make any substantive amendments
to this code of ethics, or grant any waiver from a provision to our principal executive officer, principal financial
officer or principal accounting officer, we will disclose the nature of such amendment or waiver on our website or in a
report on Form 8-K.
Item 11. Executive Compensation
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
Introduction
This Compensation Discussion and Analysis provides an overview of the Company's executive compensation
philosophy and the material elements of compensation earned by our Named Executive Officers with respect to 2011.
Our named executive officers consist of our current Chief Executive Officer, our Chairman and former Chief
Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer and our three other most highly compensated executive officers
("Named Executive Officers"). On October 1, 2011, as part of the Company's planned succession, Mr. Edwardson
retired from the position of Chief Executive Officer of the Company and agreed to continue to serve as Chairman of
the Board of Managers of CDW Holdings and CDW LLC through the end of 2012 and Mr. Richards, the Company's
President and Chief Operating Officer, was elected to the position of President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.
For 2011, the Named Executive Officers were:
Thomas E. Richards, President and Chief Executive Officer
dohn A. Edwardson, Chairman and Former Chief Executive Officer

Ann E. Ziegler, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer
Douglas E. Eckrote, Senior Vice President, Strategic Solutions and Services
Neal J. Campbell, Senior Vice President, Chief Marketing Officer
Christina M. Corley, Senior Vice President, Corporate Sales
On October 12, 2007, we were acquired by a company controlled by investment funds affiliated with the Equity
Sponsors (the “Acquisition”). Following the Acquisition, the Compensation Committees of CDW Holdings (our
ultimate parent company) and CDW LLC collectively have responsibility for determining the compensation of our
Named Executive Officers. The two Compensation Committees are comprised of the same members, each of whom
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was appointed by the Equity Sponsors. For purposes of this Compensation Discussion and Analysis, these two
Compensation Committees are collectively referred to as the “Committee.”
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Establishing and Evaluating Executive Compensation

Executive Compensation Philosophy and Objectives

The Committee believes that the Company's executive compensation programs should reward actions and behaviors
that drive long-term, profitable revenue growth at above-market rates while also rewarding the achievement of
short-term performance goals. The following objectives are grounded in a pay-for-performance philosophy and
provide a framework for the Company's executive compensation programs:

Attract, retain and motivate high performing talent;

Directly align executive compensation elements with both short-term and long-term Company performance; and
Align the interests of our executives with those of our stakeholders.

Consistent with the Company's pay-for-performance philosophy and executive compensation program objectives,
adjustments to executive compensation levels have historically been based on individual and Company performance
with reference to the compensation levels paid to similarly situated executive officers at the Company, and market
data has been used by the Committee to provide a perspective on executive compensation.

Market Comparisons

The Committee considers relevant market pay practices when establishing and evaluating executive compensation,
which are based on peer group data and compensation survey data. Each of the companies in the Company's peer
group meet one or more of the following criteria: (i) operated in the same line of business as the Company;

(i) operated “close” to the Company's line of business; (iii) operated in a business-to-business distribution environment;
or (iv) competed with the Company for talent. The 2011 peer group consisted of the following companies:

Anixter International, Inc. Office Depot, Inc.
Arrow Electronics, Inc. OfficeMax Incorporated
Avaya Inc. PC Connection Inc.

Best Buy Co., Inc. RadioShack Corporation
C. R. Bard, Inc. Staples, Inc.

GTSI Corp. Tech Data Corporation
Illinois Tool Works Inc. United Stationers Inc.
Ingram Micro Inc. W.W. Grainger, Inc.
Insight Enterprises, Inc. Wesco International, Inc.
NCR Corporation

Utilizing the Company's peer group, Aon Hewitt compiles compensation data from its general industry compensation
survey. In compiling compensation data, Aon Hewitt may supplement the peer group data with data from other
companies included in its general industry compensation survey if Aon Hewitt determines that a particular executive
position is not sufficiently represented in the peer group. Aon Hewitt statistically adjusts the compensation data
provided to the Committee on the basis of revenue to allow the Committee to review the data on a size-adjusted basis.
In reviewing the compensation paid to each Named Executive Officer, the Committee supplements the Aon Hewitt
peer group data with data taken from technology industry surveys prepared by Radford, a leading provider of
compensation market data. While the Radford surveys include information regarding over 1,000 companies, the
Committee's use of the surveys was limited to a review of U.S. compensation data derived from technology companies
in the surveys that, for purposes of decisions made prior to March 2011, had annual revenues in excess of $1.0 billion.
For the Committee's review of possible merit salary increases in March 2011 and actions thereafter, the Committee
used data derived from technology companies in the surveys that had annual revenues in excess of $3.0 billion, which
was a newly available survey data cut provided by Radford. The Committee reviewed, depending on the availability
of data within the survey for the position being considered, market data derived from between 12 and 82 of the
technology companies included in the survey, which companies had median annual revenues of between $3.080
billion and $11.570 billion.

For Mr. Edwardson and Mr. Richards' mid-year compensation changes related to the planned CEO succession, the
Committee reviewed peer group data. For the other Named Executive Officers, the Committee reviewed blended
market data, with the peer group data and compensation survey data weighted equally. For purposes of this
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Analysis, the peer group data and compensation survey data are collectively referred to as “market data.”

In order to evaluate the competitiveness and reasonableness of the Company's executive compensation program, the
Committee compares base salary to the market 50th percentile, and total target cash compensation and total
compensation, including long-term incentive opportunity, to a market range of the 50th to 75th percentile. The total
cash compensation opportunity for an executive is generally set to provide above market median total cash
compensation for performance above market growth rate expectations. In conjunction with market data, the
Committee also considers the executive's overall responsibilities, individual performance against Company goals and
leadership impact when establishing appropriate compensation levels.

Independent Compensation Consultant

Frederic W. Cook & Co. (the “Compensation Consultant’”) was retained by the Committee to advise on compensation
matters relating to the appointment of Mr. Richards to the position of President and Chief Executive Officer and the
retirement of Mr. Edwardson. The Compensation Consultant did not provide any additional services to the Company
in 2011.

Role of Executive Officers

The Committee is responsible for all compensation decisions for our Named Executive Officers. Mr. Edwardson,
while serving as the Company's Chief Executive Officer, reviewed the performance of each executive officer and,
based on these reviews, made recommendations to the Committee with respect to 2011 compensation.

Elements of Compensation

The Company's executive compensation program consists of the following principal elements:

Base salary;

Annual cash incentive awards (the Senior Management Incentive Plan);

{ ong-term incentive awards; and

Severance benefits.

Base Salary

The Committee generally sets base salaries for executives, including the Named Executive Officers, below the market
median of salaries for executives in similar positions and with similar responsibilities at companies included in the
market data. Aligned with our compensation philosophy, a large proportion of executives' total target cash
compensation is non-fixed, or variable, to provide a strong connection between pay and performance. Accordingly, in
2011, Mr. Richards' base salary was 40% of his total target cash compensation, Mr. Edwardson's base salary was 39%
of his total target cash compensation, and the base salaries for the other Named Executive Officers ranged from 28%
to 50% of their total target cash compensation.

Based on the advice of the Compensation Consultant and the Committee's review of market data, Mr. Richards' base
salary increased from $700,000 to $775,000 when he assumed the position of Chief Executive Officer in October
2011. In connection with Mr. Edwardson's retirement as Chief Executive Officer and continuation as Chairman, Mr.
Edwardson and the Company entered into an amended employment agreement that provided for reductions in Mr.
Edwardson's base salary over the duration of such agreement. Although market data supported the continuation of Mr.
Edwardson's current base salary level for the duration of his employment agreement, Mr. Edwardson recommended to
the Committee that his base salary be reduced over the term of his agreement. Accordingly, Mr. Edwardson's base
salary will be reduced as follows:

Period Base Salary (Per Annum)
10/1/2011 through 3/31/2012 $825,000
4/1/2012 through 6/30/2012 $618,750
7/1/2012 through 9/30/2012 $412,500
10/1/2012 through 12/31/2012 $206,250

With respect to Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley, the Committee set their base salaries when they joined the Company in
2011. In determining each executive's base salary level, the Committee considered market data and the base salaries
paid to similarly situated executive officers at the Company.

Explanation of Responses: 43



107

Edgar Filing: GOODSON R EUGENE - Form 4

Explanation of Responses:

44



Edgar Filing: GOODSON R EUGENE - Form 4

Table of Contents

Annual Cash Incentive Awards (Senior Management Incentive Plan)

CDW provides its senior management with short-term incentive compensation through its annual cash bonus program,
the Senior Management Incentive Plan (“SMIP”). Short-term compensation under SMIP is a significant component of
an executive's total target cash compensation opportunity in a given year.

As noted above, the Committee generally assesses an executive's total target cash compensation for competitiveness
and reasonableness against the market data. The total cash compensation opportunity for an executive is generally set
to provide above market median total cash compensation for performance above market growth rate expectations.
Because the Named Executive Officer base salary levels historically have been below the 50t percentile of market
data, the Committee has long relied on SMIP to provide a significant component of the Named Executive Officer's
total target cash compensation. For 2011, Mr. Richards' SMIP target award represented 60% of his total target cash
compensation, Mr. Edwardson's SMIP target award represented 61% of his total target cash compensation, and the
SMIP target awards for our other Named Executive Officers ranged from 50% to 72% of their respective total target
cash compensation.

When Mr. Richards assumed the role of Chief Executive Officer, the Committee set Mr. Richards' annual SMIP target
at 150% of base salary, which resulted in Mr. Richards' 2011 SMIP target increasing from $1,050,000 to $1,162,500.
The increased target was prorated to apply to the portion of 2011 during which he served as Chief Executive Officer.
In determining Mr. Richards' SMIP target, the Committee considered the advice of the Compensation Consultant as
well as market data. With respect to Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley, the Committee set their annual SMIP targets
when they joined the Company in 2011 at $275,000. Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley's 2011 SMIP targets were prorated
to reflect the portion of the year in which each Named Executive Officer was employed by the Company. In
determining Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley's SMIP targets, the Committee considered market data and the SMIP
targets for similarly situated executive officers at the Company.

In establishing annual performance goals under SMIP, the Committee undertakes a rigorous review and analysis to
ensure that the performance goals correlate to above market performance. Factors considered by the Committee in
establishing the performance goals include market growth rate expectations and Company market share gain
expectations, as well as assumptions regarding the Company's productivity gains and investments.

The Committee believed that a combination of Adjusted EBITDA and market share performance was the most
meaningful measure of the Company's 2011 performance for its stakeholders because together they take into account
not only the Company's absolute performance but also performance relative to the market. Adjusted EBITDA is a
non-GAAP financial measure. See “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” for further information regarding the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA.

For 2011, the Committee set the annual Adjusted EBITDA performance goal at $659 million. Additionally, the
threshold payout level was set so as to require the Company to meet or exceed prior year Adjusted EBITDA results
for any incentive payments to be made to senior management under SMIP. Consistent with the 2010 SMIP design, the
Committee also included a market share factor as a mechanism to adjust payments under SMIP. This design feature
adjusts SMIP awards based on the Company's financial and operational success relative to market.

In operation, therefore, payment of awards under SMIP for performance during 2011 was guided by three principles:
Target payout requires growth above market growth rate expectations;

Threshold payout requires performance at or above prior year level; and

The market share governor adjusts payouts if the Company underperforms the market.

The SMIP payout curve had a payout range from 0% to 200% of each participant's target SMIP award for
performance between 91.3% and 115% of the Adjusted EBITDA goal, with different levels of payout for increased or
constant/decreased market share, and no payout if the Company failed to achieve 2010 Adjusted EBITDA
performance. The threshold, target and maximum payout opportunities under the SMIP payout curve are set forth
below:
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AU IDI Market Share Governor @

Performance Goal
Fayiont Opgsrintisy @ (% of attainment of Grow (% of target Flat/Decline (%

performance goal) bonus) of target bonus)
Maximum 115.0 % 200 % 180 %
Adjusted EBITDA Performance Goal 100.0 % 100 % 90 %
Minimum Performance Threshold 91.3 % 25 % 15 %

Payouts were determined under a grid based on various performance achievement levels for Adjusted EBITDA and

market share changes.

Market share changes were measured internally based on data from seven industry surveys and reports as well as

(2)financial information regarding four publicly traded resellers and four publicly traded technology distributors
and/or manufacturers.

In 2011, the Committee determined that the Company had achieved 109% of its Adjusted EBITDA performance goal

and, after assessing the data described in footnote (2) above, determined that the Company's market share grew,

resulting in a payout percentage of 160% of each Named Executive Officer's bonus target. The table below sets forth

the SMIP payouts to each of the Named Executive Officers based upon 2011 performance:

ey

Named Executive Officer SMIP Bonus Target  Calculated SMIP Payout
Thomas E. Richards (1) $1,078,356 $1,725,370

John A. Edwardson $1,300,000 $2,080,000

Ann E. Ziegler $700,000 $1,120,000

Douglas E. Eckrote $700,000 $1,120,000

Neal J. Campbell (2) $257,671 $412,274

Christina M. Corley (2) $73,082 $116,932

The SMIP Bonus Target reported for Mr. Richards is prorated to reflect his SMIP Bonus Target in effect until
(1)September 30, 2011 and his increased SMIP Bonus Target in effect from October 1, 2011 through December 31,
2011.
Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley each commenced employment with the Company during 2011 and each received a
(2) prorated bonus opportunity reflecting the portion of the year in which each Named Executive Officer was
employed by the Company.
Long-Term Incentive Program
The Equity Sponsors believe that members of senior management should hold a personally significant interest in the
equity of the Company to align their interests and the interests of our stakeholders. As described below, the Equity
Sponsors implemented their management investment philosophy by requiring members of senior management to
invest in the Company and by establishing a “profits-interest program.” “Profits-interest programs” are common practice
in portfolio companies of private equity firms and allow participants to share in increases in the equity value of the
Company.
A Units
The Equity Sponsors' investment in the Company is held in the form of Class A Common Units of CDW Holdings (“A
Units”). Mr. Richards, Ms. Ziegler and each of our current Named Executive Officers who were with the Company at
the time of the Acquisition were required to invest in A Units of CDW Holdings.
B Unit Program
The Company granted Class B Common Units of CDW Holdings (“B Units”) in 2007 to each of our current Named
Executive Officers who was with the Company at the time of the Acquisition. The Committee has the authority to
grant B Units to new members of senior management and additional B Units to current members of senior
management. A Units and B Units each represent an equity interest in CDW Holdings; however, the B Unit grants
have what is called a “participation threshold” set based on the value assigned to an A Unit at the time of the B Unit
grant. The B Units only share in equity appreciation above the participation threshold. This places the B Unit grants in
a secondary position to the A Units in that in any event in which the equity is valued and paid out, holders of the B
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the participation threshold has first been allocated to the A Units. The A Units and the B Unit grants share equally in
valuation amounts, if any, above the participation threshold.

In connection with the commencement of their employment in 2011, the Committee granted to Mr. Campbell and Ms.
Corley 4,783 B Units and 5,245.5 B Units, respectively. In determining the size of the awards, the Committee
considered the Company's historical grant practices with respect to similarly situated executive officers at the
Company. In 2011, other than the new hire grants to Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley, the Committee did not authorize
the grant of any additional B Units to any of the Named Executive Officers.

On June 30, 2011, the Board approved the terms of a Class B Common Unit Grant Agreement modification letter with
Mr. Edwardson. The modification letter provides that Mr. Edwardson's unvested B Units will continue to vest in
accordance with the vesting schedule set forth in his grant agreement (through 2014); provided, that Mr. Edwardson
continues to perform services through December 31, 2012 or experiences a qualifying termination of employment
(Mr. Edwardson is terminated without cause or resigns with good reason) prior to that date. In connection with his
Class B Common Unit Grant Agreement modification letter, Mr. Edwardson agreed to extend the term of his
noncompetition covenant through December 31, 2016.

For additional information about the B Units granted to the Named Executive Officers in 2011 as well as the
modification to Mr. Edwardson's Class B Unit Grant Agreement, see the narrative accompanying the “Grants of
Plan-Based Awards Table,” the table entitled “2011 Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End” and the “2011 Units
Vested Table” below.

RDU Plan

In 2010, the Board adopted the Restricted Debt Unit Plan (the “RDU Plan”) which was designed to retain key leaders
and focus them on driving the long-term success of the Company. The RDU Plan is an unfunded nonqualified
deferred compensation plan. Participants in the RDU Plan receive Restricted Debt Units (“RDUs”) that entitle the
participant to a proportionate share of payments under the RDU Plan, determined by dividing the number of RDUs
held by the participant by 28,500, which is the total number of RDUs available under the RDU Plan. Each RDU
represents $1,000 of face value of the Senior Subordinated Notes.

The RDUs are designed to track two components of the Senior Subordinated Notes, a principal component and an
interest component. However, the participants have no rights to the underlying debt. The total amount of
compensation available under the RDU Plan is based on these two components. The principal component credits the
RDU Plan with an amount equal to $28.5 million face value of the Senior Subordinated Notes (the “debt pool™).
Payment of the principal component under the RDU Plan will be made to participants on October 12, 2017, unless
accelerated due to a sale of the Company. The interest component credits the RDU Plan with amounts equal to the
interest that would have been earned on the debt pool from March 10, 2010 (or the date of hire, if later) through
maturity (October 12, 2017). These amounts will be paid to participants on the interest payment dates, except that
amounts for 2010 and 2011 are deferred until 2012.

In connection with the commencement of their employment in 2011, Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley each received 400
RDUs. The Committee set the size of Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley's awards at levels that maintained the Company's
compensation practice of providing a significant portion of each executive's compensation in the form of at-risk,
variable compensation while also delivering a competitive compensation package to the executive. In 2011, other than
the new hire grants to Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley, the Committee did not authorize the grant of any additional
RDUs to any of the Named Executive Officers.

For additional information regarding the operation of the RDU Plan and the RDUs granted to the Named Executive
Officers, see the narrative accompanying the “2011 Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation” table and the “2011 Potential
Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control” section.

Severance Benefits

The Company's employment arrangements with each of the Named Executive Officers provide for payments and other
benefits in connection with certain qualifying terminations of employment with the Company. The Committee
believes that these severance benefits: (i) help secure the continued employment and dedication of the Named
Executive Officers; (ii) enhance the Company's value to a potential acquirer because the Named Executive Officers
have noncompetition, nonsolicitation and confidentiality provisions that apply after any termination of employment,
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many of the companies with which we compete for executive talent have similar agreements in place for their senior
management.

Additional information regarding the employment arrangements with each of the Named Executive Officers,
including a
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quantification of benefits that would have been received by each Named Executive Officer had his or her employment
terminated on December 30, 2011 (the last business day in 2011), is provided under “2011 Potential Payments Upon
Termination or Change in Control.”

Other Benefits

Our Named Executive Officers participate in the Company's corporate-wide benefit programs. Our Named Executive
Officers are offered benefits that are commensurate with the benefits provided to all full-time CDW coworkers, which
includes participation in the Company's qualified defined contribution plan. Consistent with the Company's
performance-based culture, the Company does not offer a service-based defined benefit pension plan or other similar
benefits to its coworkers. Similarly, the Company does not provide nonqualified retirement programs or perquisites
that are often provided at other companies to the Named Executive Officers.

Compensation Committee Report

The CDW LLC Compensation Committee, together with the Compensation Committee of CDW Holdings LL.C, has
responsibility for determining the compensation of our Named Executive Officers. The Compensation Committee has
reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis with management and, based on such review and
discussion, the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board of Directors of CDW Corporation that the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in CDW Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2011 and such other filings with the SEC as may be appropriate.

Compensation Committee

Benjamin D. Chereskin (Chair)
Steven W. Alesio

Barry K. Allen

Glenn M. Creamer

Michael J. Dominguez

Robin P. Selati
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Executive Compensation Tables
2011 Summary Compensation Table
The following table provides information regarding the compensation earned during the last three fiscal years by our
current Chief Executive Officer, our Chairman and former Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer and
our three other most highly compensated executive officers, whom we collectively refer to as our “Named Executive
Officers.”

Non-Equity Non-qualified
Name and Stock Optiolincentive Deferred  All Other

Principal Year S$a larly B$0r11;s Awards  Awardan Compensatioffompensation $otal
Position ®Hd ®HE $) 3) ($) CompensatiorEarnings  ($) (6) ()
$) @) $) S
Thomas E.
Richards
grheiselgem ad 2011 715,865 — — — 1725370 374747 5,180 2,821,162
Executive
Officer
2010 700,000 — 2,238,960 — 1,995,000 296,561 5,130,000 10,360,521
2009 175,000 1,208,896 — — — — 30,274 1,414,170
John A.
Edwardson
Chairman and 511 g55 000 — 8.220,865 — 2,080,000 — 5,180 11,131,045
Former Chief
Executive
Officer
2010 825,000 — 4,191,657 — 2,470,000 — — 7,486,657
2009 564,205 250 — — 683,800 — 3,193 1,251,448
Ann E. Ziegler
Senior Vice
President and 2011 320,000 — — — 1,120,000 229,012 5,180 1,674,192
Chief Financial
Officer
2010 320,000 — 628,429 — 1,340,000 181,232 3,135,000 5,604,661
2009 317,538 100 — — 331,380 — 3,193 652,211
Douglas E.
Eckrote
Senior Vice
President, 2011 275,000 — — — 1,120,000 187,373 5,180 1,587,553
Strategic
Solutions
and Services
2010 275,000 — 514,867 — 1,340,000 148,281 2,565,000 4,843,148
2009 272,885 350 — — 368,200 — 3,193 644,628
Neal J. Campbell
Senior Vice
President, Chief 2011 248,558 — 695,783 — 412,274 27,353 400,000 1,783,968
Marketing
Officer
2011 69,153 78,400 797,316 — 116,932 7,711 400,000 1,469,512
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Christina M.

Corley

Senior Vice

President,

Corporate Sales

(1)Salary. Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley each joined the Company during 2011.

(2)B0nus. The amounts reported in this column for Mr. Richards and Ms. Corley represent bonuses paid in connection
with Mr. Richards and Ms. Corley joining the Company.

Stock Awards. The amounts reported represent the grant date fair value of B Units calculated in accordance with

Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718, Compensation-Stock

Compensation (“FASB ASC Topic 718”). The amounts reported in 2011 for Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley represent

the aggregate grant date fair value of B Units granted in 2011. Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley's B Units vest daily

on a pro rata basis commencing on the date of grant and continuing through the five-year anniversary of the date of

grant. The amount reported in 2011 for Mr. Edwardson represents the incremental fair value associated with the

modification to Mr. Edwardson's outstanding B Unit awards in 2011 and does not reflect a new B Unit grant to Mr.

Edwardson. As noted in the following narrative, in 2011, the vesting terms of Mr. Edwardson's B Units were

modified in connection with his retirement as Chief Executive Officer to provide that Mr. Edwardson's outstanding

B Units will continue to vest in accordance with the vesting schedule set forth in his original grant agreement

(through 2014); provided, that Mr. Edwardson continues to perform services through December 31, 2012 or

experiences a qualifying termination of employment prior to that date. For 2010, the amounts reported represent

the aggregate grant date fair value of B Units granted in 2010 and the incremental fair value associated with the

2010 modification of the B Unit program. See Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for a discussion of

the relevant assumptions used in calculating these amounts. Please see the Compensation Discussion and Analysis

for further information regarding the 2011 B Unit grants to Mr.

3)
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Campbell and Ms. Corley and the 2011 modification of Mr. Edwardson's outstanding B Units.
Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation. For 2011, the amounts reported represent cash awards to the Named
(4) Executive Officers under the SMIP. Please see the Compensation Discussion and Analysis for further information
regarding the 2011 SMIP.
Nongqualified Deferred Compensation Earnings. Pursuant to SEC disclosure rules, the amounts reported represent
the portion of the interest credited under the RDU Plan that exceeds 120% of the applicable federal long-term rate.
(5) As noted in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the payment of interest earned during 2010 and 2011
under the RDU Plan was deferred until 2012. Please see the Compensation Discussion and Analysis for further
information regarding the RDU Plan.
All Other Compensation. For 2011, “All Other Compensation” consists of (i) the value of RDUs that Mr. Campbell
and Ms. Corley received during 2011 and (ii) profit sharing contributions to the 401 (k) accounts of Messrs.
Richards, Edwardson, and Eckrote and Ms. Ziegler. For 2010, “All Other Compensation” for Messrs. Richards and
Eckrote and Ms. Ziegler consists of the value of RDUs that each received during 2010. The RDU value reported is
calculated by multiplying the number of RDUs received by $1,000, the face amount of an RDU. Because the
amounts reported represent the face amount of the unvested RDUs, these amounts may not correspond to the actual
value that will be recognized by the Named Executive Officer. Participants in the RDU Plan vest in this principal
component on a pro rata basis over the three-year period commencing January 1, 2012 through December 31,
2014, subject to earlier vesting in the event of certain qualifying terminations of employment or a sale of the
Company.
2011 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table
The following table provides information regarding the possible payouts to our Named Executive Officers in 2011
under the SMIP and the 2011 grant of B Units to Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley.

(6)

Estimated Possible Payouts Estimated Possible All .
Payouts Other Exercigrant
Wil Under Equit Option or Date
Non-Equity Incentive Plan auy All Other pl .
Incentive Plan Awards:Base Fair Value
Awards (1) Stock .
Awards NumberPrice of Stock
Name Grant Date Awards:
of of and
Number of Securitie®ptionOption
ThresholdTarget Maximum ThreshBiddgetMaximudnits (#) HITHESPHONYPL
$) ) ) $ S ©® UnderlymgvardAwards
Options ($)  ($) (4)
#)
LIRS 161,753 1,078,356 2,156,712 — — —  — -
Richards
Ui 195,000 1,300,000 2,600,000 — — — -
Edwardson
2) — — — — = = 24,887 (2) — — 8,220,865
AmE. 105,000 700,000 1,400,000 — — —  — -
Ziegler
Dol B, 105,000 700,000 1,400,000 — — —  — -
Eckrote
Neal J.
Chrurgivsll 38,651 257,671 515,342 @ — — @— — — — —
3/10/2011 — — — — = = 4783 (3) — — 695,783
Christina
M. Corley 10,962 73,082 146,164 — — — — — — —
11/4/2011 — — — — = = 5,246 (3) — — 797,316

(1) These amounts represent threshold, target and maximum cash award levels set in 2011 under the SMIP. The SMIP
bonus opportunities reported for Mr. Richards are prorated to reflect his SMIP bonus opportunities in effect until
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September 30, 2011 and his increased SMIP bonus opportunities in effect from October 1, 2011 through December
31,2011. Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley each commenced employment with the Company during 2011 and each
received prorated bonus opportunities reflecting the portion of the year in which each Named Executive Officer
was employed by the Company. The amount actually earned by each Named Executive Officer is reported as
Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation in the 2011 Summary Compensation Table.

The amount reported for Mr. Edwardson represents the number of B Units that were impacted by the modification
to Mr. Edwardson's outstanding B Unit awards in 2011 and does not reflect a new B Unit grant to Mr. Edwardson.
As noted in the following narrative, in 2011, the vesting terms of Mr. Edwardson's B Units were modified in
connection with his retirement as Chief Executive Officer to provide that Mr. Edwardson's outstanding B Units
will continue to vest in accordance with the vesting schedule set forth in his original grant agreement (through
2014); provided, that Mr.

2
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Edwardson continues to perform services through December 31, 2012 or experiences a qualifying termination of
employment prior to that date. Please see the following narrative for further information regarding the modification to
Mr. Edwardson's outstanding B Units.

The amounts reported for Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley represent B Units granted in 2011 under the Company's
2007 Incentive Equity Plan. These B Units vest daily on a pro rata basis commencing on the date of grant and
continuing through the five-year anniversary of the date of grant. The per unit participation thresholds for Mr.
Campbell and Ms. Corley's B Unit grants equal $464.06 and $592.00, respectively.

The amounts reported in this column represent the grant date fair value of the 2011 B Unit grants and the
incremental fair value associated with the modification of Mr. Edwardson's B Units in 2011, each as computed in
accordance with FASB ASC 718. See Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for a discussion of the
relevant assumptions used in calculating these amounts.

Narrative to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table

Employment Agreements and Arrangements

In connection with Mr. Richards' election to the position of Chief Executive Officer, on June 30, 2011, the Board
approved the terms of an amended and restated compensation protection agreement with Mr. Richards, which became
effective October 1, 2011. Mr. Richards' amended compensation protection agreement provides for, among other
items, (i) an annual base salary of $775,000 subject to merit increases, (ii) an annual incentive bonus target of 150% of
Mr. Richards' annual base salary and (iii) severance benefits for qualifying terminations of employment. Please see the
“2011 Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control” section for a discussion of Mr. Richards' severance
arrangements.

On October 12, 2007, in connection with the Acquisition, the Company entered into an employment agreement with
Mr. Edwardson, pursuant to which Mr. Edwardson agreed to continue to serve as the Company's Chief Executive
Officer. Mr. Edwardson's employment agreement provided for, among other items, (i) an annual base salary of
$760,000 subject to merit increases, (ii) an annual incentive bonus target of not less than $1,000,000, and (iii) a
one-time grant of approximately 54,500 B Units in 2007. The employment agreement also provided Mr. Edwardson
with certain severance payments following a qualifying termination of employment. In connection with Mr.
Edwardson's retirement as Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Mr. Edwardson's continued service as the
Company's Chairman, the Board approved the terms of an amended and restated employment agreement (the
“Amended Employment Agreement”’). The Amended Employment Agreement with Mr. Edwardson became effective on
October 1, 2011 and continues through December 31, 2012. Over the duration of the Amended Employment
Agreement, Mr. Edwardson's base salary will be reduced from its current level as follows:

3)

“)

Period Base Salary (Per Annum)
10/1/2011 through 3/31/2012 $825,000
4/1/2012 through 6/30/2012 $618,750
7/1/2012 through 9/30/2012 $412,500
10/1/2012 through 12/31/2012 $206,250

The other significant changes reflected in the Amended Employment Agreement are as follows:

If Mr. Edwardson's employment as Chairman is terminated by the Company without “cause,” by Mr. Edwardson for
“good reason,” or due to disability, Mr. Edwardson will receive, in addition to the payments and benefits that he is
already entitled to receive under his existing employment agreement, continuation of medical, dental and vision
insurance until he becomes eligible for Medicare benefits, and full COBRA rights for his eligible dependents once he
becomes eligible for Medicare benefits or, if earlier, upon his death.

Mr. Edwardson extended the term of his noncompetition covenant through December 31, 2016.

On June 30, 2011, the Board also approved the terms of a Class B Common Unit Grant Agreement modification letter
with Mr. Edwardson. The modification letter provides that Mr. Edwardson's unvested B Units will continue to vest in
accordance with the vesting schedule set forth in his grant agreement (through 2014); provided, that Mr. Edwardson
continues to perform services through December 31, 2012 or experiences a qualifying termination of employment
(Mr. Edwardson is terminated without cause or resigns with good reason) prior to that date.
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and other benefits upon a qualifying termination of the Named Executive Officer. The terms of the Company's
severance
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arrangements are described in “2011 Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control.”
SMIP
Please see the Compensation Discussion and Analysis for further information regarding the operation of the SMIP.
Class B Common Units
As noted in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, in connection with the commencement of their employment
in 2011, the Committee granted to Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley 4,783 B Units and 5,245.5 B Units, respectively. The
B Unit program is a profits-interest compensation program that was designed to permit holders of B Units to share in
the increase in the equity value of the Company above a pre-defined value for the A Units. For the 2011 B Unit grants
to Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley that per unit pre-defined value, or “participation threshold,” equals $464.06 and
$592.00, respectively.
The B Units vest daily on a pro rata basis between the date of grant and the fifth anniversary of the date of grant if,
and only if, the executive is, and has been, continuously employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, serving
as a manager or director of the Company or its subsidiaries, or providing services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries as an advisor or consultant. Immediately prior to a sale of the Company, all unvested B Units shall
immediately vest if the executive is, and has been, continuously employed by or providing services to the Company or
its subsidiaries as of the date of the transaction.
Please see the Compensation Discussion and Analysis for further information regarding the 2011 B Unit grants to
Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley.
RDU Plan
Please see the Compensation Discussion and Analysis and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation section for further
information regarding the operation of the RDU Plan.
2011 Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End
The following table summarizes the number and market value of unvested equity awards held by each Named
Executive Officer on December 31, 2011.

Number of Units Market Value of

Name That Have Not ~ Units That Have
Vested (1) Not Vested (2)

Thomas E. Richards 11,203 $9,623,239
John A. Edwardson 37,348 $32,081,413
Ann E. Ziegler 5,229 $4,491,399
Douglas E. Eckrote 5,152 $4,425,880
Neal J. Campbell 4,006 $1,582,088
Christina M. Corley 5,079 $1,356,111

Amounts reported in this column represent the number of unvested B Units held by each Named Executive Officer

as of December 31, 2011. For each of the Named Executive Officers other than Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley, the
(1)B Units vest daily on a pro rata basis over a five year period commencing on January 1, 2010. For Mr. Campbell
and Ms. Corley, the B Units vest daily on a pro rata basis over a five year period commencing on March 10, 2011
and November 4, 2011, respectively.
Following the Acquisition, the Company's equity ceased to be publicly traded and, therefore, there was no
ascertainable public market value for the B Units as of December 31, 2011. The market value reported in this table
is based upon a valuation analysis of the "fair market value" (as defined in our applicable equity documents) of
total Company equity performed on a semi-annual basis.

2
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The following table summarizes the number and market value of equity awards held by each Named Executive
Officer that vested during 2011.

Name Number of Units Acquiredvalue Realized on

on Vesting (1) Vesting (2)
Thomas E. Richards 3,728 $3,201,398
John A. Edwardson 12,427 $10,674,308
Ann E. Ziegler 1,740 $ 1,494,403
Douglas E. Eckrote 1,714 $1,472,604
Neal J. Campbell 777 $306,911
Christina M. Corley 166 $44,438

Amounts reported in this column represent the number of the Named Executive Officer's B Units that vested
during 2011. These B Units remain subject to transfer restrictions pursuant to the terms of the B Unit agreements.
Following the Acquisition, the Company's equity ceased to be publicly traded and, therefore, there was no
ascertainable public market value for the B Units as of December 31, 2011. The market value reported in this table
is based upon a valuation analysis of the "fair market value" (as defined in our applicable equity documents) of
total Company equity performed on a semi-annual basis.

Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation

As noted in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the Company maintains the RDU Plan, an unfunded
nonqualified deferred compensation plan that is designed to retain key leaders and focus them on driving the
long-term success of the Company. Participants in the RDU Plan received RDUs that entitle the participant to a
proportionate share of payments under the RDU Plan, determined by dividing the number of RDUs held by the
participant by 28,500, which is the total number of RDUs available under the RDU Plan. Each RDU represents $1,000
of face value of the Company's Senior Subordinated Notes.

The RDUs are designed to track two components of the Company's Senior Subordinated Notes, a principal component
and an interest component. However, participants have no rights to the underlying debt. The total amount of
compensation available under the RDU Plan is based on these two components. The principal component credits the
RDU Plan with an amount equal to $28.5 million face value of the Company's Senior Subordinated Notes (the “debt
pool”). Payment of the principal component under the RDU Plan will be made to participants on October 12, 2017,
unless accelerated as discussed in the “2011 Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control” section. The
interest component credits the RDU Plan with amounts equal to the interest that would have been earned on the debt
pool from March 10, 2010 (or the date of hire, if later) through maturity (October 12, 2017). Payment of the interest
component for the period from March 10, 2010 (or the date of hire, if later) through December 31, 2011 was made in
January 2012, and payment of the interest component for periods on and after January 1, 2012 will be paid to
participants semi-annually on April 15 and October 15, unless accelerated as discussed in the “2011 Potential Payments
upon Termination or Change in Control” section.

Participants vest daily in the principal component during employment on a pro rata basis over the three-year period
commencing January 1, 2012 through December 31, 2014, unless accelerated as discussed in the “2011 Potential
Payments upon Termination or Change in Control” section. Participants became vested in the interest component that
accrued for the period from March 10, 2010 (or the date of hire, if later) through December 31, 2011 on December 31,
2011 and vest in the interest component for periods on and after January 1, 2012 as discussed in the “2011 Potential
Payments upon Termination or Change in Control” section.

The principal and interest accrued on unallocated RDUs under the RDU Plan as of December 31, 2014 will be
allocated to participants who are employed as of such date on a pro rata basis according to the number of RDUs held
by each such participant compared to the total debt pool, unless accelerated as discussed in the “2011 Potential
Payments upon Termination or Change in Control” section. Any RDUs allocated to participants on December 31, 2014
will be fully vested. Such principal and interest components allocated to each participant shall be paid on October 12,
2017, unless accelerated as discussed in the “2011 Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control” section.

)]
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2011 Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Table
The following table provides information regarding the RDU Plan.

Executive Registrant Aggregate Aggregate Aggregate Balance
Name Contributions in Contributions in Earnings in Last Withdrawals / at Last Fiscal
Last Fiscal Year Last Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Distributions ~ Year-End
%) ($) (1) $) ) $) $) (3)
Thomas E. Richards — — 643,046 — 6,286,482
John A. Edwardson — — — — —
Ann E. Ziegler — — 392,972 — 3,841,739
Douglas E. Eckrote — — 321,523 — 3,143,241
Neal J. Campbell — 400,000 46,937 — 446,937
Christina M. Corley — 400,000 13,231 — 413,231

The amounts reported in this column represent the number of RDUs that Mr. Campbell and Ms. Corley received
during 2011 multiplied by $1,000, the face amount of an RDU. Please see the narrative above for a description of
the principal component of the RDU Plan. These amounts are included in the “All Other Compensation” column in
(1)the 2011 Summary Compensation Table. Participants in the RDU Plan vest in the principal component on a pro
rata basis over the three-year period commencing January 1, 2012 through December 31, 2014, subject to earlier
vesting in the event of certain qualifying terminations of employment or a sale of the Company. Accordingly, none
of the amounts reported in this column as of December 31, 2011 were vested.
The amounts reported in this column represent interest credited to each Named Executive Officer's RDU account in
2011. Please see the narrative above for a description of the interest component of the RDU Plan. (This is different
than the portion of the interest credited that is above the applicable long-term federal rate, which is included in the
(2)“Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Earnings” column in the 2011 Summary Compensation Table.) Participants in
the RDU Plan became vested in the interest payments that accrued under the RDU Plan from March 10, 2010 (or
the date of hire, if later) through December 31, 2011 on December 31, 2011. Such accrued interest payments were
paid to participants in January 2012.
(3) The amounts reported in this column represent each Named Executive Officer's balance in the RDU Plan.
2011 Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control
Mr. Richards is a party to a compensation protection agreement that provides for certain severance benefits upon a
qualifying termination of employment. As noted above, we have entered into an employment agreement with
Mr. Edwardson, which also provides for certain severance benefits upon a qualifying termination of employment. In
addition, in connection with the Acquisition, Ms. Ziegler and Mr. Eckrote entered into compensation protection
agreements that set forth their severance arrangements (together, with Mr. Richards compensation protection
agreement, the “Compensation Protection Agreements”). The remaining Named Executive Officers participate in a
compensation protection plan that provides for severance benefits upon a qualifying termination of employment
(“Compensation Protection Plan”). Each Named Executive Officer, other than Mr. Edwardson, is a participant in the
RDU Plan and each Named Executive Officer is a participant in the Company's B Unit program, both of which
provide for accelerated vesting of RDUs or B Units, as applicable, upon certain termination events or a sale of the
Company.
A description of the material terms of each of the employment arrangements, the RDU Plan and B Unit program as
well as estimates of the payments and benefits each Named Executive Officer would receive upon a termination of
employment or sale of the Company, are set forth below. The estimates have been calculated assuming a termination
date on December 30, 2011 (the last business day in 2011), an estimated market value of the Company's B Units based
upon a valuation analysis of the "fair market value" (as defined in our applicable equity documents) of total Company
equity performed on a semi-annual basis and the $1,000 face amount of an RDU. The amounts reported below are
only estimates and actual payments and benefits to be paid upon a termination of a Named Executive Officer's
employment with the Company or sale of the Company under these arrangements can only be determined at the time
of termination or sale of the Company.
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All of the Named Executive Officers are bound by noncompetition agreements with the Company. Under his amended
and restated employment agreement, Mr. Edwardson is bound by noncompetition and nonsolicitation provisions that
apply through December 31, 2016 and confidentiality provisions that apply for an unlimited period of time following

any termination of his employment. The remaining Named Executive Officers are bound by noncompetition and
nonsolicitation provisions that
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apply for a period of twelve months (in the case of the Compensation Protection Plan or for executives who are parties
to Compensation Protection Agreements if such executive is not eligible to receive severance under the terms of such
agreement) or eighteen months (if the Named Executive Officer is eligible for severance under the terms of a
Compensation Protection Agreement) following any termination of employment and confidentiality provisions that
apply for an unlimited period of time following any termination of employment. The noncompetition period under the
B Unit agreements is 18 months for each executive who is a party to a Compensation Protection Agreement and 12
months for each executive who participates in the Compensation Protection Plan.

Employment Agreement with John A. Edwardson

We entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Edwardson on October 12, 2007 that provides for payments and
other benefits in connection with the termination of his employment with the Company.

Under Mr. Edwardson's employment agreement, if Mr. Edwardson's employment is terminated due to

Mr. Edwardson's death or disability, Mr. Edwardson or his estate, as applicable, is entitled to receive the following
payments and benefits under the employment agreement: (1) accrued base salary through the date of termination of
employment; (2) the amount of any SMIP bonus earned and payable, but not yet paid, for the fiscal year prior to the
year in which Mr. Edwardson's termination of employment occurs; (3) any earned and unpaid portion of the SMIP
bonus target determined as of the last day of the fiscal year in which Mr. Edwardson's termination of employment
occurs, prorated from the first day in such fiscal year through the date of Mr. Edwardson's termination of employment;
and (4) any employee benefits to which Mr. Edwardson is otherwise entitled. In addition, in the case of

Mr. Edwardson's termination due to death or disability, Mr. Edwardson's Class B Common Unit Grant Agreement
provides for the immediate vesting of the additional portion of his outstanding B Units that would vest over a period
of one year from Mr. Edwardson's termination of employment. If Mr. Edwardson's employment is terminated by the
Company for “cause” or by Mr. Edwardson without “good reason,” as defined in his employment agreement,

Mr. Edwardson is entitled to receive the benefits described in (1), (2) and (4) above. If Mr. Edwardson's employment
is terminated by the Company without “cause” or by Mr. Edwardson for “good reason,” Mr. Edwardson is entitled to
receive the payments and benefits described in (1) through (4) above and a lump sum payment of two times the sum of
his base salary plus his average annual incentive bonus for the last three full fiscal years.

As described above, on June 30, 2011, we amended and restated Mr. Edwardson's employment agreement in
connection with his announced retirement and continued service to the Company as Chairman. The amended and
restated agreement became effective October 1, 2011. Under the amended and restated agreement, if Mr. Edwardson's
employment is terminated by the Company without “cause,” by Mr. Edwardson for “good reason” or due to disability,
Mr. Edwardson will receive, in addition to the payments and benefits outlined in the previous paragraph, continuation
of medical, dental and vision insurance until he becomes eligible for Medicare benefits, and full COBRA rights for his
eligible dependents once he becomes eligible for Medicare benefits or, if earlier, upon his death.

Compensation Protection Arrangements

For purposes of determining severance benefits under the Named Executive Officers' compensation protection
arrangements, a qualifying termination means termination of the Named Executive Officer's employment (1) by the
Company other than (A) for “cause,” (B) the Named Executive Officer's death or (C) the Named Executive Officer's
disability, or (2) for a Named Executive Officer who is a party to a Compensation Protection Agreement, by the
Named Executive Officer for “good reason.”

If the employment of a Named Executive Officer other than Mr. Edwardson is terminated for any reason other than a
qualifying termination of employment, the Named Executive Officer is entitled to receive his or her “accrued
obligations.” Accrued obligations include the following: (1) accrued and unpaid base salary; (2) any SMIP bonus,
deferred compensation and other cash compensation accrued by the Named Executive Officer to the extent not paid as
of the date of termination; and (3) and vacation pay, expense reimbursements and other cash entitlements accrued by
the Named Executive Officer to the extent not paid as of the date of termination.

If the employment of a Named Executive Officer other than Mr. Edwardson is terminated due to the Named Executive
Officer's death or disability, the Named Executive Officer or his or her estate, as applicable, is entitled to receive the
following payments under his or her compensation protection arrangement: (1) accrued obligations as defined above
and (2) for executives who are parties to Compensation Protection Agreements, an annual incentive bonus (based on
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If the employment of a Named Executive Officer other than Mr. Edwardson is terminated due to a qualifying
termination, the Named Executive Officer is entitled to receive the following payments and benefits under his or her
compensation protection arrangement: (1) accrued obligations as defined above; (2) the portion of the unpaid SMIP
bonus that
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the Named Executive Officer would have received had he or she remained employed by the Company for the full year
in which the termination occurs, based on actual performance and prorated through the date of termination;

(3) continuation in accordance with the Company's regular payroll practices of a multiple of the Named Executive
Officer's base salary; (4) payment of a multiple of the Named Executive Officer's SMIP bonus that would have been
earned had the Named Executive Officer remained employed by the Company for the full year in which the
termination occurs, based on actual performance; (5) continuation of certain health and welfare benefits for the
number of years specified in the Named Executive Officer's compensation protection arrangement or if earlier, the
date that the Named Executive Officer became eligible for each such type of insurance coverage from a subsequent
employer (provided, however, that if the Company is unable to provide such continuation benefits to the Named
Executive Officer, the Company will reimburse and provide a tax-gross up for the cost associated with providing such
benefits); and (6) outplacement services of up to $20,000. The multiple to be applied in determining severance
payments and health and welfare continuation coverage is one for Named Executive Officers who participate in the
Compensation Protection Plan, two for Named Executive Officers who are parties to Compensation Protection
Agreements or, in the case Mr. Richards resigns for good reason in certain circumstances following an acquisition of
the Company on or before December 31, 2011, three for base salary and health and welfare benefits and 2.99 for
SMIP bonus. The receipt of all of the payments and benefits above, except payment of accrued obligations, is
conditioned upon the Named Executive Officer's execution of a general release agreement in which he or she waives
all claims that he or she might have against the Company and certain associated individuals and entities.

If the payments and benefits to a Named Executive Officer under their respective employment agreement or
Compensation Protection Agreement would subject the Named Executive Officer to the excise tax imposed by
Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code, the Named Executive Officer would be entitled to receive a “gross-up”
payment, unless the Named Executive Officer's net after-tax benefit resulting from such gross-up payment, as
compared to a reduction of such payments and benefits so that no excise tax is incurred, is less than $100,000. The
foregoing gross-up payment is applicable only in the case of the Company's first change in control following its initial
public offering.

RDU Plan

As noted in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis and narrative to the “2011 Non-Qualified Deferred
Compensation” table, the Company maintains the RDU Plan. Upon a qualifying termination of employment under a
Compensation Protection Agreement, the participant will vest in the RDUs through the date of termination,
determined as if the vesting schedule had been five year daily commencing on January 1, 2010. For participants in the
RDU Plan, in the event of death or disability, the participant will vest in an additional 20% of the RDUs (i.e., one year
of vesting on a five year daily vesting schedule). With respect to the interest component of the RDU Plan, upon a
termination of employment, a participant receives interest payments, payable at the same time and same rate as other
RDU participants, with respect to vested and unvested RDUs through the date of termination and with respect to
vested RDUs thereafter.

All outstanding RDUs become vested upon a sale of the Company and participants will receive unpaid interest
through the date of such sale of the Company. In addition, upon a sale of the Company, the Company is required to
pay the same change in control payment, equal to 1% of the debt pool, as it would be required to pay noteholders
under the indenture governing the Company's Senior Subordinated Notes. The change in control payment, as well as
the principal and interest portion of the debt pool not yet allocated as of the date of the sale of the Company, will be
allocated to participants who are employed as of such date on a pro rata basis according to the number of RDUs held
by each participant compared to the total debt pool.

B Units

Except as described below with respect to Mr. Edwardson, there is no acceleration or continuation of vesting of the B
Units for terminations other than on account of a Named Executive Officer's death or disability. In the case of
termination due to the Named Executive Officer's death or disability, each Named Executive Officer's Class B
Common Unit Grant Agreement provides for the immediate vesting of the additional portion of his or her outstanding
B Units that would vest over a period of one year from such Named Executive Officer's termination of employment.
All outstanding unvested B Units would immediately vest upon a sale of the Company under the Class B Common
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Unit Grant Agreements entered into with each Named Executive Officer.

On June 30, 2011, the Board also approved the terms of a Class B Common Unit Grant Agreement modification letter
with Mr. Edwardson. The modification letter provides that Mr. Edwardson's unvested B Units will continue to vest in
accordance with the vesting schedule set forth in his grant agreement (through 2014); provided, that Mr. Edwardson
continues to perform services through December 31, 2012 or experiences a qualifying termination of employment
(Mr. Edwardson is terminated without cause or resigns with good reason) prior to that date.

For purposes of the RDU Plan and B Unit program, a sale of the Company means the acquisition by any person or
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group of (1) at least 51% of the equity securities of the Company entitled to vote to elect members of the Board or
(2) all or substantially all of the Company's assets determined on a consolidated basis. An initial public offering does
not constitute a sale of the Company.

Potential Payments upon a Qualifying Termination of Employment (1)

Pro Rata Vellne o Value of
Severance Class B Welfare Aggregate
Actual Bonus Accelerated .. Outplacement
Name Payment Common Benefits Payments
Payment . RDUs @)
% 2 $) (3) Units $) 5) ($) (6) ($)
® @
Thomas E. Richards 5 5 740 1725370 — 3,208,482 17,502 20,000 9,972,094
(2x Scenario)
Thomas E. Richards ——; je3 856 1725370 — 3,208,482 26253 20,000 12,463,961
(3x Scenario)
John A. Edwardson 5,139,200 2,080,000 32,110,657 — 9,793 — 39,339,650
Ann E. Ziegler 2,880,000 1,120,000 — 1,960,739 11,549 20,000 5,992,288
Douglas E. Eckrote 2,790,000 1,120,000 — 1,604,241 17,406 20,000 5,551,647
Neal J. Campbell 715,000 412,274 — 46,937 8,215 20,000 1,202,426
Christina M. Corley 715,000 116,932 — 13,231 10,213 20,000 875,376

A qualifying termination means termination of the Named Executive Officer's employment (1) by the Company
other than (A) for “cause,” (B) the Named Executive Officer's death or (C) the Named Executive Officer's disability,
or (2) for a Named Executive Officer who is a party to a Compensation Protection Agreement, by the Named
Executive Officer for “good reason.”
Except as otherwise noted, amounts reported in this column represent a multiple of the sum of (i) the Named
Executive Officer's base salary and (ii) the Named Executive Officer's annual incentive bonus target for 2011
multiplied by the 2011 SMIP payout percentage of 160%. For Mr. Edwardson, the bonus component of his
severance payment is determined under his employment agreement based upon the average of the annual incentive
(2)bonus amounts earned for the last three full fiscal years. The multiple is one times for the Named Executive
Officers who participate in the Compensation Protection Plan, two times for Mr. Edwardson and the Named
Executive Officers who are parties to Compensation Protection Agreements and three times for base salary and
2.99 times for SMIP bonus in the case Mr. Richards resigns for good reason in certain circumstances following an
acquisition of the Company on or before December 31, 2011.
Under the Named Executive Officers' respective agreements, the Named Executive Officers are entitled to a pro
rata bonus based on the Company's actual performance for the year in which termination occurs. The amount
reported in this column represents the annual bonus earned by each Named Executive Officer during 2011. This
amount is also reported in the 2011 Summary Compensation Table as 2011 compensation.
Pursuant to the terms of the B Unit agreements, the B Units do not accelerate upon a termination of employment
other than a termination of employment due to the death or disability of the Named Executive Officer, as described
below. Although Mr. Edwardson's unvested B Units do not accelerate upon a qualifying termination of
employment, Mr. Edwardson's unvested B Units will continue to vest in accordance with the vesting schedule set
(4)forth in his grant agreement (through 2014) upon a qualifying termination of employment. The amount reported for
Mr. Edwardson represents the value of the B Units that will continue to vest in the event Mr. Edwardson's
employment with the Company is terminated without cause or Mr. Edwardson resigns with good reason before
December 31, 2012. The B Unit value reported in this table is based upon a valuation analysis of the "fair market
value" (as defined in our applicable equity documents) of total Company equity performed on a semi-annual basis.
(5)Pursuant to the terms of the RDU Plan, upon a qualifying termination of employment under a Compensation
Protection Agreement, the participant will vest in the RDUs through the date of termination, determined as if the
vesting schedule had been five year daily commencing on January 1, 2010. The amounts reported in the table
represent the sum of (i) the number of RDUs that would vest upon the qualifying termination of employment under
a Compensation Protection Agreement multiplied by the $1,000 face amount of an RDU and (ii) the interest earned

ey
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vested on December 31, 2011 and was paid in January 2012. In addition, the Named Executive Officer will continue

to receive interest earned subsequent to 2011 with respect to the RDUs that vested in connection with his or her

qualifying termination of employment.

( 6)Represents the estimated value of continued welfare benefits that all Named Executive Officers would be entitled
to receive upon a qualifying termination of employment.

Represents the maximum value of outplacement services that all Named Executive Officers, except for

(7)Mr. Edwardson, would be entitled to receive.
Potential Payments upon Death or Disability Table
Pro Rata Value of Value of
Severance Accelerated Aggregate
Actual Bonus Accelerated
Name Payment Class B Common Payments
Payment . RDUs
& ®) () bnits ®)3) &
$ @
Thomas E. Richards — 1,725,370 3,205,407 2,182,482 7,113,259
John A. Edwardson — 2,080,000 10,686,006 — 12,766,006
Ann E. Ziegler — 1,120,000 1,496,041 1,333,739 3,949,780
Douglas E. Eckrote — 1,120,000 1,474,218 1,091,241 3,685,459
Neal J. Campbell — 412,274 377,800 126,937 917,011
Christina M. Corley — 116,932 280,110 93,231 490,273

Under the Compensation Protection Agreements, the Named Executive Officers are entitled to a pro rata bonus
based on target or, in the case of Mr. Edwardson, actual performance for the year in which termination occurs. The
amount reported in this column represents the annual bonus earned by each Named Executive Officer during 2011.
This amount is also reported in the 2011 Summary Compensation Table as 2011 compensation.
Represents the value of B Units, equal to the amount that would vest over a period of one year, in the event of a
death or a termination following a disability on December 30, 2011. The B Unit value reported in this table is
based upon a valuation analysis of the "fair market value" (as defined in our applicable equity documents) of total
Company equity performed on a semi-annual basis.
Pursuant to the terms of the RDU Plan, in the event of the participant's death or disability, the participant will vest
in an additional 20% of the RDUs (i.e., one year of vesting on a five year daily vesting schedule). The amounts
reported in the table represent the sum of (i) the number of RDUs that would vest upon a termination due to death
(3)or disability multiplied by the $1,000 face amount of an RDU and (ii) the interest earned in 2010 and 2011 that
became vested on December 31, 2011 and was paid in January 2012. In addition, the Named Executive Officer will
continue to receive interest earned subsequent to 2011 with respect to the RDUs that vested in connection with his
or her termination of employment due to death or disability.
Potential Payments upon a Change in Control
Pro Rata Value of

ey

2

Severance Actual Accelerated VRIS Aggregate
Accelerated Gross-Up

Name Payment = Bonus Class B Common RDUs $) 3) Payments

%) Payment Units $ @) $) @)

($) % M

Thomas E. Richards — — 9,632,012 7,143,831 — 16,775,843
John A. Edwardson — — 32,110,657 — — 32,110,657
Ann E. Ziegler — — 4,495,493 4,365,681 — 8,861,174
Douglas E. Eckrote — — 4,429.915 3,571,921 — 8,001,836
Neal J. Campbell — — 1,583,121 513,790 — 2,096,911
Christina M. Corley — — 1,356,877 480,085 — 1,836,962

(1) Represents the value of all unvested B Units that would become vested immediately prior to a sale of the
Company on December 30, 2011. The B Unit value reported in this table is based upon a valuation analysis of the
"fair market value" (as defined in our applicable equity documents) of total Company equity performed on a
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Represents the value of all unvested RDUs that would become vested upon a sale of the Company as well as the
interest accrued in 2010 and 2011 on these RDUS, the allocation of the unallocated RDU debt pool (principal and
any accrued interest) that each Named Executive Officer would have received if a sale of the Company occurred on
(2)December 30, 2011 and the change in control payment on the RDUs. The amounts are calculated based on the
$1,000 face amount of an RDU. Please see the “2011 Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation” table for a description
of the RDU Plan and the narrative above entitled “RDU Plan” for a description of the amounts to be received by
participants in the RDU Plan upon a sale of the Company.
The tax gross-up calculations assumed a blended effective tax rate of approximately 39% and a 20% excise tax
incurred on excess parachute payments, as calculated in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Sections 280G
and 4999. For Mr. Richards, given that he commenced employment with the Company in 2009, the tax gross-up
(3)calculation is based on Mr. Richard's W-2 forms for 2009 and 2010 only, with 2009 compensation information
based on an annualized salary amount. For Ms. Ziegler, given that she commenced employment in 2008, the tax
gross-up calculation is based on Ms. Ziegler's W-2 forms for 2008, 2009 and 2010 only, with 2008 compensation
information based on an annualized salary amount.
If the Named Executive Officer experiences a qualifying termination of employment in connection with a change
in control, the Named Executive Officer would also be entitled to the amounts reported in the “Potential Payments
upon a Qualifying Termination of Employment” table above, except that such Named Executive Officer would
receive the value of the accelerated RDUs as set forth in this table rather than in the ‘“Potential Payments upon a
Qualifying Termination of Employment” table above. In addition, the 280G gross-up calculation would be increased
to reflect the additional compensation received in connection with a qualifying termination of employment. In such
case, Mr. Richards would receive a gross-up payment of $2,316,136 for the 2x termination scenario and
$3,608,933 for the 3x termination scenario, and Ms. Ziegler would receive a gross-up payment of $1,357,190.
Director Compensation
Our managers who (1) were appointed jointly by our Equity Sponsors and (2) were not also officers or employees of
the Company or Managing Directors of our Equity Sponsors in 2011 were eligible to receive an annual retainer of
$175,000 in 2011, paid on a quarterly basis after completion of each quarter of service. Steven W. Alesio, Barry K.
Allen, Benjamin D. Chereskin and Donna F. Zarcone were eligible to receive this retainer for their Board service in
2011. Our other non-employee managers, Glenn M. Creamer, Michael J. Dominguez, Paul J. Finnegan and Robin P.
Selati, were Managing Directors of the Equity Sponsors in 2011 and therefore were not eligible to receive this retainer
for their Board service in 2011.
The following table shows information concerning the retainer paid to eligible managers during the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2011:

“)

Name Fees Earned or Paid in Cash/Total

Steven W. Alesio $ 175,000

Barry K. Allen $ 175,000

Benjamin D. Chereskin $ 175,000

Donna F. Zarcone $ 106,250 (1)

(I)Consists of a pro rata portion of the $175,000 annual retainer earned by Ms. Zarcone based upon length of Board
service in 2011. Ms. Zarcone currently serves on the Board and commenced Board service on May 23, 2011.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

All of the equity interests of CDW LLC and CDW Finance Corporation are owned by Parent, which in turn is wholly

owned by CDW Holdings. CDW Holdings was capitalized in connection with the Acquisition with approximately

$2,141.9 million of equity capital in the form of units. As of December 31, 2011, CDW Holdings had 2,165,617.47 A

Units outstanding and 202,907.74 B Units outstanding, of which 75,461.18 were vested. The A Units and the vested B

Units vote together as a single class of units. The following table sets forth certain information regarding the

beneficial ownership of the units of CDW Holdings as of December 31, 2011 by:

each person who is the beneficial owner of more than 5% of its outstanding voting common equity;

each member of the board of managers of CDW Holdings and each of our Named Executive Officers; and
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our managers and executive officers as a group.

To our knowledge, each such holder has sole voting and investment power as to the units shown unless otherwise
noted. Beneficial ownership of the units listed in the table has been determined in accordance with the applicable rules
and regulations promulgated under the Exchange Act.

CDW Holdings LLC
Percent of A Number of B Percent of B Percent of All
Number of A Unif9nits Units Units Units
Beneficially Own&eneficially Beneficially Beneficially Beneficially
Owned Owned Owned Owned

Principal Unitholders:
Madison Dearborn (1 1,108,879.4 51.2 — — 49.5
Providence Equity @ 980,415.5 453 — — 43.7
Managers and Executive
Officers:
John A. Edwardson ® 26,000.0 1.2 26,895.9 34.7 2.4
Ann E. Ziegler ® 1,000.0 & 3,765.4 5.0 *
Thomas E. Richards ) 2,154.9 * 8,067.8 10.6 *
Douglas E. Eckrote ©) 4,000.0 & 3,710.5 4.9 *
Christina M. Corley (" — * 338.6 * *
Neal J. Campbell ® — * 934.1 1.2
Steven W. Alesio — — — — —
Barry K. Allen — — — — —
Benjamin D. Chereskin — — — — —
Glenn M. Creamer — — — — —
Michael J. Dominguez — — — — —
Paul J. Finnegan — — — — —
Robin P. Selati — — — — —
Donna F. Zarcone — — — — —
All Managers and Executive
Officers as a group (19 37,454.9 1.7 56,260.4 70.4 4.2

persons)

(*) Denotes less than one percent.
Consists of 723,840.2 A Units held directly by Madison Dearborn Capital Partners V-A, L.P. (“MDP A”), 192,022.3
A Units held directly by Madison Dearborn Capital Partners V-C, L.P. (“MDP C”), 7,273.2 A Units held directly by
Madison Dearborn Capital Partners V Executive-A, L.P. (“MDP Exec”) and 185,743.8 A Units held directly by
MDCP Co-Investor (CDW), L.P. (“MDP Co-Investor’). The units held by MDP A, MDP C, MDP Exec and MDP
Co-Investor may be deemed to be beneficially owned by Madison Dearborn Partners V A&C, L.P. (“MDP V), and
the general partner of MDP A, MDP C, MDP Exec and MDP Co-Investor. As the sole member of a limited partner

(l)committee of MDP V that has the power, acting by majority vote, to vote or dispose of the units directly held by
MDP A, MDP C, MDP Exec and MDP Co-Investor, John A. Canning, Paul J. Finnegan and Samuel M. Mencoff
may be deemed to have shared voting and investment power over such units. MDP V, MDP A, MDP C, MDP Exec
and MDP Co-Investor may be deemed to be a group for purposes of Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act, but
expressly disclaim group attribution. Messrs. Canning, Finnegan and Mencoff and MDP V hereby disclaim any
beneficial ownership of any shares held by MDP A, MDP C, MDP Exec and MDP Co-Investor. The address for
the Madison Dearborn entities and persons is Three First National Plaza, 70 W. Madison Street, Suite 4600,
Chicago, Illinois, 60602.

(2)Consists of 621,184.7 A Units held directly by Providence Equity Partners VI, L.P. (“PEP VI”), 213,695.0 A Units
held directly by Providence Equity Partners VI-A, L.P. (“PEP VI-A”) and 145,535.8 A Units held directly by PEP
Co-Investors (CDW), L.P. (“PEP Co-Investor”). The units held by PEP VI, PEP VI-A and PEP Co-Investor may be
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50 Kennedy Plaza, 18th Floor, Providence, Rhode Island 02903.

8,775 A Units held by the Edwardson Family Foundation are deemed to be beneficially owned by Mr. Edwardson.
(3)Includes beneficial ownership of 2,042.7 B Units held by Mr. Edwardson that may be acquired within 60 days of
December 31, 2011.

350 A Units held by the Mark A. Orloff Irrevocable Trust, the assets of which trust, including the 350 A Units, are
pledged to secure a loan incurred by the trust, and 650 A Units held by the Ann E. Ziegler IRA Northern Trust
Bank are deemed to be beneficially owned by Ms. Ziegler. Includes beneficial ownership of 286.0 B Units held by
Ms. Ziegler that may be acquired within 60 days of December 31, 2011.

Includes beneficial ownership of 612.7 B Units held by Mr. Richards that may be acquired within 60 days of
December 31, 2011.

Includes beneficial ownership of 281.8 B Units held by Mr. Eckrote that may be acquired within 60 days of
December 31, 2011.

Includes beneficial ownership of 172.2 B Units held by Ms. Corley that may be acquired within 60 days of
December 31, 2011.

(S)Includes beneficial ownership of 157.0 B Units held by Mr. Campbell that may be acquired within 60 days of

December 31, 2011.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Management Services Agreement

The Company is party to a management services agreement with affiliates of Madison Dearborn and Providence
Equity pursuant to which they have agreed to provide us with management and consulting services and financial and
other advisory services. Pursuant to such agreement, the Equity Sponsors earn an annual advisory fee of $5 million,
payment of which is subject to certain restrictions contained in our term loan facility, and reimbursement of
out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the provision of such services. Additionally, the Equity Sponsors
are entitled to certain fees based on the amount of any future equity or debt financing for us that is arranged by them.
The management services agreement includes customary indemnification provisions in favor of the Equity Sponsors.
Management and Equity Sponsor equity arrangements

Certain members of the Company's senior management team have purchased A Units in CDW Holdings. As of
December 31, 2011, executive officers owned 37,454.9 A Units (including deferred A Units), or approximately 1.7%
of the outstanding A Units (including deferred A Units). The aggregate purchase price paid by the executive officers
for these units (including deferred A Units) was approximately $36.3 million.

The A Units are subject to restrictions on transfer, and also are subject to the right of CDW Holdings or, if not
exercised by CDW Holdings, the right of the Equity Sponsors, to repurchase the units in certain circumstances,
subject to certain exceptions. With respect to certain members of our executive committee, these circumstances
include: (i) a termination of the executive's employment with the company for cause, (ii) a resignation (other than
upon retirement or resignation due to disability or for good reason) within three years of the date of such equity
purchase, (iii) a material violation of a restrictive covenant within three years after the executive's termination of
employment with the company or (iv) the executive becoming employed by, performing services for or becoming
associated with a competitor. With respect to all other management investors, these circumstances include: (i) a
termination of the executive's employment with the company for any reason, (ii) a violation of a restrictive covenant,
or (iii) the executive becoming employed by, performing services for or becoming associated with a competitor. If an
executive's employment with us terminates for any reason other than for cause or violation of a restrictive covenant,
the executive's units can be repurchased at fair market value. Upon a termination for cause or violation of a restrictive
covenant, the executive's units can be repurchased at the lower of original cost or fair market value.

Certain members of senior management have purchased A units in CDW Holdings on a deferred basis by deferring
certain future compensation into deferred A units. Holders of the deferred A Units are entitled to any distributions
(whether in cash or property) on A Units as though each deferred unit held was one A Unit, though such distributions
may not be made at the same time as distributions are made to holders of A Units, as more fully described in the
applicable deferred unit purchase agreement. Deferred units cannot generally be transferred prior to the applicable
settlement date and, if deferred units are settled in exchange for A Units, such A Units can only be transferred as

“)
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@)

Explanation of Responses: 74



Edgar Filing: GOODSON R EUGENE - Form 4

provided by the agreements governing the A Units, including the limited liability company agreement and with
respect to those parties to the unitholders agreement, to that

124

Explanation of Responses:

75



Edgar Filing: GOODSON R EUGENE - Form 4

Table of Contents

agreement.

CDW Holdings, the Equity Sponsors, certain executive committee members and certain other co-investors have
entered into a unitholders agreement. Under the unitholders agreement, if the Equity Sponsors (so long as the Equity
Sponsors collectively continue to hold at least 51% of the Common Units (as defined in the CDW Holdings limited
liability company agreement)) seek to sell all or substantially all of the company, these executives must consent to the
sale and cooperate with the Equity Sponsors, which may include selling their securities to the buyer on the terms and
at the price negotiated by the Equity Sponsors and signing whatever documents as are reasonably necessary to
consummate the sale. Additionally, under the unitholders agreement, prior to an initial public offering, if the Equity
Sponsors sell a significant portion of their ownership interest in CDW Holdings to a third party (disregarding sales in
the public market, transfers to affiliates and certain other exceptions), these executives will have the option, but will
not be required (except in the case of a sale of the entire company), to participate in the sale and sell alongside the
Equity Sponsors on a pro rata basis. Prior to an initial public offering or a sale of all or substantially all of CDW
Holdings, each executive will be required to vote his or her units in favor of a board of managers consisting of such
representatives as the Equity Sponsors designate and our Chief Executive Officer. The right of each Equity Sponsor to
designate such representatives is subject to certain percentage ownership requirements.

CDW Holdings, the Company, the Equity Sponsors, certain executive committee members and certain other
co-investors have entered into a registration rights agreement. Under the registration rights agreement, the Equity
Sponsors were given the right to require the Company to register any or all of its securities under the Securities Act on
Form S-1 or Form S-3, at the Company's expense. Additionally, these executives are entitled to request the inclusion
of their registrable securities in any such registration statement at the Company's expense whenever the Company
proposes to register any offering of its securities.

CDW Holdings, all senior management investors, the Equity Sponsors and certain other co-investors have entered
into an amended and restated limited liability company agreement. The limited liability company agreement specifies
the rights and obligations of the members of CDW Holdings and the rights of the various classes of limited liability
company interests therein. Pursuant to the amended and restated limited liability company agreement, holders of A
Units and B Units in CDW Holdings will share in future distributions on a pro rata basis, subject to certain
participation thresholds for holders of B Units.

Transactions with Equity Sponsors

Madison Dearborn and Providence Equity are private equity firms that have investments in companies that purchase
products or services from, or provide products or services to, the Company. We believe that such transactions are
entered into in the ordinary course of business on terms no less favorable to us than terms that could have been
reached with an unaffiliated third party.

Review and approval of transactions with related persons

The charter of the audit committee of CDW Holdings gives the audit committee the responsibility to review all
transactions with related persons. According to the charter, no related person transaction may be entered into unless
and until it has been approved by the audit committee. For these purposes, a related person transaction is considered to
be any transaction that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 404 of the SEC's Regulation S-K.

Potential related person transactions are identified based on information submitted by our officers and managers and
then submitted to the audit committee for review. The audit committee takes into account all relevant considerations
in deciding whether to approve the transaction. These considerations may, but need not, include:

the approximate dollar amount involved in the transaction, including the amount payable to or by the related
person;

* the nature of the interest of the related person in the transaction;

* whether the transaction may involve a conflict of interest;

Wwhether the transaction was entered into on terms no less favorable to us than terms that could have been reached with
an unaffiliated third party; and

* the purpose of the transaction and any potential benefits to us.

Director Independence
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of CDW Holdings, we would be a “controlled company” within the meaning of Rule 5615 of the Nasdaq Marketplace
Rules,
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which would qualify us for exemptions from certain corporate governance rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.,
including the requirement that the board of directors be composed of a majority of independent directors.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

On June 22, 2011, the Audit Committee of the Board of Managers of the Company approved the dismissal of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PWC”) and the engagement of Ernst & Young LLP (“E&Y”) as the Company's
independent registered public accounting firm, effective June 22, 2011.

The following table presents the total fees and expenses billed by E&Y for the year ended December 31, 2011 and
PWC for the year ended December 31, 2010:

(in thousands) Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010

Audit Fees (D $1,084.2 $1,730.0

Audit Related Fees (@ — 380.0

Tax Fees ® — 15.0

All Other Fees 4 2.0 —

Total $1,086.2 $2,125.0

Audit fees include fees for the audit of our annual financial statements and reviews of our quarterly financial
statements. Fees in 2011 and 2010 also include services related to the Company’s Registration Statements on Form
S-4. Fees in 2010 also include services provided in connection with the issuance of the Company’s Senior Secured
Notes in December.
@) Audit related fees include fees related to employee benefit plans and consultation services provided in connection

with the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 and certain changes to compensation plans.
(3) Tax fees include fees related to tax compliance.
@) All other fees include a fee paid for a license to use software relating to accounting rules and

regulations.

The Audit Committee has adopted a policy requiring pre-approval by the Audit Committee of all services (audit and
non-audit) to be provided to us by our independent registered public accounting firm in order to ensure that providing
such services will not impair the auditor’s independence. The Audit Committee may delegate to one or more of its
members the authority to grant such pre-approvals, provided that any pre-approval of services pursuant to this
delegated authority is presented to the full Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting. All of the fees disclosed in
the table above were approved by the Audit Committee in accordance with the foregoing pre-approval policy.

ey
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a)Financial Statements and Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this report:
(1)Consolidated Financial Statements:

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 50
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 51
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31. 2011 and 2010 52
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the vears ended December 31. 2011. 2010 and 2009 53
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ (Deficit) Equity for the years ended December 31. 2011. 2010 and s4
2009 =
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2011. 2010 and 2009 55
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 56
(2)Financial Statement Schedules:

Page
Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 96

All other schedules are omitted since the required information is not present or is not present in amounts sufficient to

require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is included in the consolidated financial
statements or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits

The information required by this Item is set forth on the exhibit index that follows the signature page of this report.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CDW CORPORATION

Date: March 9, 2012 By: /s/ Thomas E. Richards

Thomas E. Richards

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Thomas E. Richards President, Chief Executive Officer and Director March 9, 2012
Thomas E. Richards (principal executive officer)

/s/ Ann E. Ziegler Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer March 9, 2012
Ann E. Ziegler (principal financial officer)

/s/ Virginia L. Seggerman Vice President and Controller March 9, 2012

Virginia L. Seggerman (principal accounting officer)

/s/ Michael J. Dominguez Director March 9, 2012
Michael J. Dominguez

/s/ Paul J. Finnegan Director March 9, 2012
Paul J. Finnegan
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Ul Description
Number P

3.1

32

33

34

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

39

3.10

3.11

3.12

Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of CDW Corporation, previously filed as
Exhibit 3.1 with CDW Corporation’s Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258)
and incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated By-Laws of CDW Corporation, previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 with CDW
Corporation’s Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein
by reference.

Articles of Organization of CDW LLC, previously filed as Exhibit 3.3 with CDW Corporation’s Form
S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of CDW LLC, previously filed as
Exhibit 3.4 with CDW Corporation’s Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258)
and incorporated herein by reference.

Certificate of Incorporation of CDW Finance Corporation, previously filed as Exhibit 3.5 with CDW
Corporation’s Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein
by reference.

By-Laws of CDW Finance Corporation, previously filed as Exhibit 3.6 with CDW Corporation’s
Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of CDW Technologies, Inc., previously filed as
Exhibit 3.7 with CDW Corporation’s Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258)
and incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated By-Laws of CDW Technologies, Inc., previously filed as Exhibit 3.8 with
CDW Corporation’s Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated
herein by reference.

Articles of Organization of CDW Direct, LLC, previously filed as Exhibit 3.9 with CDW
Corporation’s Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein
by reference.

Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of CDW Direct, LLC, previously
filed as Exhibit 3.10 with CDW Corporation’s Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No.
333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.

Articles of Organization of CDW Government LLC, previously filed as Exhibit 3.11 with CDW
Corporation’s Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein
by reference.

Articles of Organization of CDW Government LLC, previously filed as Exhibit 3.11 with CDW
Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein
by reference.
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Articles of Incorporation of CDW Logistics, Inc., previously filed as Exhibit 3.13 with CDW
Corporation’s Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein
by reference.

By-Laws of CDW Logistics, Inc., previously filed as Exhibit 3.14 with CDW Corporation’s Form S-4
filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.

Senior Exchange Note Indenture, dated October 10, 2008, by and among CDW Corporation, the
guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association as trustee, previously filed as Exhibit
4.1 with CDW Corporation’s Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and
incorporated herein by reference.

Senior Exchange Note Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 10, 2010, by and among CDW LLC,
the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association as trustee, previously filed as
Exhibit 4.2 with CDW Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258)
and incorporated herein by reference.
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Exhibit
Number

43

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

4.12

4.13

Description

Second Senior Exchange Note Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 23, 2010, by and among
CDW LLC, CDW Finance Corporation, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National
Association as trustee, previously filed as Exhibit 4.3 with CDW Corporation's Form S-4 filed on
September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.

Third Senior Exchange Note Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 16, 2012, by and among
CDW LLC, CDW Finance Corporation, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National
Association as trustee, previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 with CDW Corporation's Form 8-K filed on
February 17, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Fixed Rate Senior/Senior PIK Election Exchange Note due 2015 (included as Exhibit B to
Exhibit 4.1 above), previously filed as Exhibit 4.5 with CDW Corporation’s Form S-4 filed on
September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Global Fixed Rate Senior Note due 2015, Series B, previously filed as Exhibit 4.5 with
CDW Corporation's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 and incorporated herein
by reference.

Form of Global Fixed Rate Senior PIK Note due 2015, Series B, previously filed as Exhibit 4.6 with
CDW Corporation's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 and incorporated herein
by reference.

Senior Subordinated Exchange Note Indenture, dated as of October 10, 2008, by and among CDW
Corporation, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association as trustee, previously
filed as Exhibit 4.6 with CDW Corporation’s Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No.
333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.

Senior Subordinated Exchange Note Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 10, 2010, by and
among CDW LLC, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association as trustee,
previously filed as Exhibit 4.7 with CDW Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg.
No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.

Second Senior Subordinated Exchange Note Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 23, 2010,
by and among CDW LLC, CDW Finance Corporation, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank
National Association as trustee, previously filed as Exhibit 4.8 with CDW Corporation’s Form S-4
filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Fixed Rate Senior Subordinated Exchange Note due 2017 (included as Exhibit B to Exhibit
4.8 above), previously filed as Exhibit 4.10 with CDW Corporation’s Form S-4 filed on September 7,
2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Global Fixed Rate Senior Subordinated Exchange Note due 2017, Series B, previously filed
as Exhibit 4.11 with CDW Corporation's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 and
incorporated herein by reference.

Senior Secured Note Indenture, dated as of December 17, 2010, by and among CDW LLC, CDW
Finance Corporation, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association as trustee,
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previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 with CDW Corporation's Form 8-K filed on December 21, 2010 and
incorporated herein by reference.

Senior Secured Note Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 29, 2011, by and among CDW LLC,
CDW Finance Corporation, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association as
trustee, previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 with CDW Corporation's Form 8-K filed on March 30, 2011
and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Senior Secured Note (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.13), previously filed as Exhibit 4.2
with CDW Corporation's Form 8-K filed on December 21, 2010 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Senior Note Indenture, dated as of April 13, 2011, between CDW Escrow Corporation and U.S. Bank
National Association as trustee, previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 with CDW Corporation's Form 8-K
filed on April 14, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

Senior Note Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 13, 2011, by and among CDW LLC, CDW
Finance Corporation, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association as trustee,
previously filed as Exhibit 4.2 with CDW Corporation's Form 8-K filed on April 14, 2011 and
incorporated herein by reference.
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Exhibit
Number

4.18

4.19

4.20

4.21

4.22

4.23

4.24

10.1

10.2

10.3

Explanation of Responses:

Description

Second Senior Note Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 20, 2011, by and among CDW LLC,
CDW Finance Corporation, CDW Escrow Corporation, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank
National Association as Trustee, previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 with CDW Corporation's Form 8-K
filed on May 23, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

Third Senior Note Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 17, 2012, by and among CDW LLC,
CDW Finance Corporation, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association as
Trustee, previously filed as Exhibit 4.5 with CDW Corporation's Form 8-K filed on February 17,
2012 and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Senior Note (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.16), previously filed as Exhibit 4.3 with
CDW Corporation's Form 8-K filed on April 14, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

Senior Secured Notes Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 17, 2010, by and among
CDW LLC, CDW Finance Corporation, the guarantors party thereto and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC
as representative of the initial purchasers thereto, previously filed as Exhibit 4.3 with CDW
Corporation's Form 8-K filed on December 21, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.

Senior Notes Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of April 13, 2011, by and among CDW LLC,
CDW Finance Corporation, the guarantors party thereto and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC as
representative of the initial purchasers thereto, previously filed as Exhibit 4.4 with CDW
Corporation's Form 8-K filed on April 14, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

Add-On Senior Notes Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2011, by and among
CDW LLC, CDW Finance Corporation, the guarantors party thereto and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC
as initial purchaser, previously filed as Exhibit 4.4 with CDW Corporation's Form 8-K filed on May
23,2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

Senior Notes Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of February 17, 2012, by and among CDW
LLC, CDW Finance Corporation, the guarantors party thereto and Barclays Capital Inc., previously
filed as Exhibit 4.7 with CDW Corporation's Form 8-K filed on February 17, 2012 and incorporated
herein by reference.

Revolving Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of June 24, 2011, by and among CDW LLC, the lenders
from time to time party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, GE
Commercial Distribution Finance Corporation, as floorplan funding agent, and the joint lead
arrangers, joint bookrunners, co-collateral agents and other agents party thereto, previously filed as
Exhibit 10.1 with CDW Corporation's Amendment No. 1 to Form S-4 filed on September 26, 2011
(Reg. No. 333-175597) and incorporated herein by reference.

Term Loan Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2007 and amended and restated March 12, 2008, by
and among VH MergerSub, Inc., CDW Corporation, the lenders party thereto, Lehman Commercial
Paper Inc., Lehman Brothers Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc.,
Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A, previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 with
CDW Corporation's Amendment No. 1 to Form S-4 filed on September 26, 2011 (Reg. No.
333-175597) and incorporated herein by reference.
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Amendment No. 1 to the Term Loan Agreement, dated as of November 4, 2009 previously filed as
Exhibit 10.4 with CDW Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258)
and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 2 to the Term Loan Agreement, dated as of December 2, 2010, previously filed as
Exhibit 10.1 with CDW Corporation's Form 8-K filed on December 7, 2010 and incorporated herein
by reference.

Amendment No. 3 to the Term Loan Agreement, dated as of March 11, 2011, previously filed as
Exhibit 10.1 with CDW Corporation's Form 8-K filed on March 11, 2011 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2007, as amended and restated
December 17, 2010, among CDW LLC, the Guarantors and Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, in
its capacity as collateral agent, previously filed as Exhibit 10.6 with CDW Corporation's Amendment
No. 1 to Form S-4 filed on September 26, 2011 (Reg. No. 333-175597) and incorporated herein by
reference.
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Exhibit
Number

10.7

10.8

10.98

10.108

10.11§

10.12§

10.13§

10.148

10.15§

Description

Management Services Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2007, by and between CDW Corporation,
Madison Dearborn Partners V-B, L.P. and Providence Equity Partners L.L.C., previously filed as
Exhibit 10.9 with CDW Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258)
and incorporated herein by reference.

Registration Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2007, by and among VH Holdings, Inc. CDW
Holdings LLC, Madison Dearborn Capital Partners V-A, L.P., Madison Dearborn Capital Partners
V-C, L.P., Madison Dearborn Partners V Executive-A, L.P., Providence Equity Partners VI L.P.,
Providence Equity Partners VI-A L.P., and the other securityholders party thereto, previously filed as
Exhibit 10.10 with CDW Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258)
and incorporated herein by reference.

CDW Holdings LLC 2007 Incentive Equity Plan, adopted as of October 12, 2007, previously filed as
Exhibit 10.11 with CDW Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258)
and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of CDW Holdings LL.C Class A Common Unit Purchase and Exchange Agreement under the
CDW Holdings LLC 2007 Incentive Equity Plan (executed by Thomas E. Richards, John A.
Edwardson, Dennis G. Berger, Douglas E. Eckrote, Christine A. Leahy, Jonathan J. Stevens and Ann
E. Ziegler), previously filed as Exhibit 10.12 with CDW Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September
7,2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of CDW Holdings LLC Class A Common Unit Purchase and Exchange Agreement under the
CDW Holdings LLC 2007 Incentive Equity Plan (executed by Neal J. Campbell, Christina M.
Corley, Christina V. Rother and Matthew A. Troka and to be used for certain future investors),
previously filed as Exhibit 10.13 with CDW Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010
(Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of CDW Holdings LLC Class B Common Unit Grant Agreement under the CDW Holdings
LLC 2007 Incentive Equity Plan (executed by Thomas E. Richards, John A. Edwardson, Dennis G.
Berger, Douglas E. Eckrote, Christine A. Leahy, Jonathan J. Stevens and Ann E. Ziegler), previously
filed as Exhibit 10.14 with CDW Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No.
333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of CDW Holdings LLC Class B Common Unit Grant Agreement under the CDW Holdings
LLC 2007 Incentive Equity Plan (executed by Neal J. Campbell, Christina M. Corley, Christina V.
Rother and Matthew A. Troka and to be used for certain future grantees), previously filed as Exhibit
10.15 with CDW Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and
incorporated herein by reference.

Form of CDW Holdings LL.C Deferred Unit Purchase Agreement (executed by Dennis G. Berger,
Douglas E. Eckrote and Christine A. Leahy), previously filed as Exhibit 10.16 with CDW
Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein
by reference.

Form of CDW Holdings LL.C Deferred Unit Purchase Agreement (executed by Matthew A. Troka
and to be used for certain future investors), previously filed as Exhibit 10.17 with CDW
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Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein
by reference.

Form of Compensation Protection Agreement (executed by Dennis G. Berger, Douglas E. Eckrote,
Christine A. Leahy, Jonathan J. Stevens and Ann E. Ziegler), previously filed as Exhibit 10.18 with
CDW Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated
herein by reference.

CDW Compensation Protection Plan, adopted as of December 10, 2002 and amended and restated
effective as of January 1, 2009 (applicable to Neal J. Campbell, Christina M. Corley, Christina V.
Rother and Matthew A. Troka), previously filed as Exhibit 10.19 with CDW Corporation's Form S-4
filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.

First Amendment to CDW Compensation Protection Plan, adopted as of December 10, 2002 and
amended and restated effective as of January 1, 2009, dated as of January 3, 2012.

Form of Noncompetition Agreement under the Compensation Protection Agreement, previously filed
as Exhibit 10.20 with CDW Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No.
333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.
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10.208

10.21§

10.228

10.23§

10.24§

10.25§

10.268

10.27§

10.28§

10.298

Description

Form of Noncompetition Agreement under the CDW Compensation Protection Plan, previously filed
as Exhibit 10.21 with CDW Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No.
333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.

CDW Restricted Debt Unit Plan, adopted as of March 10, 2010, previously filed as Exhibit 10.22
with CDW Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and
incorporated herein by reference.

Form of CDW Restricted Debt Unit Grant Notice and Agreement (executed by Thomas E. Richards,
Dennis G. Berger, Douglas E. Eckrote, Christine A. Leahy, Jonathan J. Stevens and Ann E. Ziegler),
previously filed as Exhibit 10.23 with CDW Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September 7, 2010
(Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of CDW Restricted Debt Unit Grant Notice and Agreement (executed by Neal J. Campbell,
Christina M. Corley, Christina V. Rother and Matthew A. Troka and to be used for certain future
grantees), previously filed as Exhibit 10.24 with CDW Corporation's Form S-4 filed on September 7,
2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.

Senior Management Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2010, previously
filed as Exhibit 10.1 with CDW Corporation's Form 8-K filed on November 15, 2010 and
incorporated herein by reference.

Employment Agreement dated as of October 12, 2007 by and between CDW Corporation and John
A. Edwardson, previously filed as Exhibit 10.26 with CDW Corporation's Amendment No. 1 to Form
S-4 filed on October 18, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated herein by reference.

First Amendment to the Employment Agreement by and between CDW Corporation and John A.
Edwardson dated as of January 1, 2009, previously filed as Exhibit 10.27 with CDW Corporation's
Amendment No. 1 to Form S-4 filed on October 18, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated
herein by reference.

Addendum to Compensation Protection Agreement dated as of March 10, 2010 by and between
CDW LLC and Thomas E. Richards, previously filed as Exhibit 10.28 with CDW Corporation's
Amendment No. 1 to Form S-4 filed on October 18, 2010 (Reg. No. 333-169258) and incorporated
herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of June 30, 2011 by and between CDW
LLC and John A. Edwardson, previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 with CDW Corporation's Form §-K
filed on July 1, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

Class B Grant Agreement Modification Letter dated as of June 30, 2011 by and among CDW
Holdings LLC, John A. Edwardson, Madison Dearborn Capital Partners V-A, L.P., Madison
Dearborn Capital Partners V-C, L.P., Madison Dearborn Capital Partners V Executive-A, L.P.,
Providence Equity Partners VI, L.P. and Providence Equity Partners VI-A, L.P., previously filed as
Exhibit 10.2 with CDW Corporation's Form 8-K filed on July 1, 2011 and incorporated herein by
reference.
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Amended and Restated Compensation Protection Agreement dated as of June 30, 2011 by and
between CDW LLC and Thomas E. Richards, previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 with CDW
Corporation's Form 8-K filed on July 1, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

Letter Agreement dated as of September 13, 2011 by and between CDW Direct, LLC and Christina
M. Corley.

Computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges.
Letter to Securities and Exchange Commission from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP dated as of June

28, 2011, previously filed as Exhibit 16.1 with CDW Corporation's Form 8-K filed on June 28, 2011
and incorporated herein by reference.
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Exhibit
Number
21.1%*

31.1*

31.2*

32.1%*

RO

101.INS#***

101.SCH*#**

101.CAL***

101.DEF***

101.LAB***

101.PRE***

Description

List of subsidiaries.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350.
XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

*Filed Herewith

**These items are furnished and not filed.
Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the Interactive Data Files on Exhibit 101 hereto are deemed not filed or
w5 Part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, are deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and otherwise are not subject to liability under those sections.
A management contract or compensatory arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit pursuant to Item 601 of
Regulation S-K.
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